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director general’s report
The last year at MEPA has been one of putting into place a solid framework
of regulations and policies in the areas of environmental and spatial planning.
This will ensure that Maltese citizens and organisations are able to look ahead
and plan within a clear and agreed policy framework that aims to ensure
environmentally-sustainable development for our small but dynamic nation.
It has often been said that improvements to environmental quality can only be
achieved through a sea change in people’s values – in the recognition that
progress cannot only be measured in financial terms but also in terms of quality
of life in its wide sense.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

“People are no longer content
with a happy-go-lucky attitude
towards the environment.”
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In my view the changes we are seeing in Malta’s regulatory and policy framework
reflect exactly such value changes. People are no longer content with a happygo-lucky attitude towards the environment; they are keen to see a new form
of environmental governance that is modern, efficient and effective.
On the other hand the business community claim that regulation can inhibit
their competitiveness. Economic growth is important for improving welfare, but
we need to have a balanced approach that takes account of the wider demands
to a better quality of life. We do not have to choose between economic growth
or high environmental standards, but we can and must have both. Improvements
in the environment can also stimulate economic growth and competitiveness.
In the current global context of pressure on resources and rising energy prices,
this is particularly appropriate in areas such as resource efficiency, waste
reduction and energy efficiency.
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On the environmental side, the vote in favour of EU accession last year drew
heavily on people’s environmental concerns. This year MEPA has been very
busy reflecting those concerns in our national legislation, which is now in line
with that of the EU. Similarly, on the spatial planning side, the concerns over
building sprawl that give birth to an integrated spatial planning system over 10
years ago, are now being interpreted on a local scale. With the drafting of the
last plan, for the south of Malta, which should be launched for public consultation
in the coming months, full coverage of the Islands’ territory by approved or
draft local plans has been achieved.
So what we are witnessing is a process of updating our national legislative and
policy framework to reflect better Malta’s changing and modernising values.
It is truly exciting to be witnessing this change from a ‘ring-side’ seat, as it were.
The staff of the Environmental Protection Directorate and the EU and MultiLateral Affairs Unit with limited resources have worked tirelessly over the past
year to ensure that the environmental chapter of the EU acquis was transposed
in time for the accession deadline of May 1st. Indeed with regard to the sections
of the environmental chapter of the acquis where MEPA was the responsible
agency, I am proud to say that transposition was achieved on time. Since the
formation of MEPA, no less that 45 legal notices have been prepared.

But once legal transposition is completed, implementation must follow. MEPA’s
strategy here, which was set in motion during the period under review, was to
focus on strengthening the organisation on the basis of three elements: training;
restructuring and staffing; and, setting in place new procedures for functions
such as permitting and enforcement. In order to better implement our joint legal
obligations with other agencies, memoranda of understanding are also being
agreed with key partners.
On training, various EU funding programmes are being tapped to fund these
priorities. The Pre-Accession Environmental Twinning Project with the UK and
Austrian environment agencies involved 357 working days of expert visits, 2
study visits and 16 UK traineeships. Various EU TAIEX experts also visited Malta
on subjects such as State of the Environment Reporting. On restructuring, we
set in motion a process to review the organisation in order to allow it to better
deliver its functions of environmental policy development, monitoring, permitting
and enforcement – at the same time reviewing staffing requirements. A new
environmental permitting procedure is being put in place that will link up directly
with spatial permitting procedures, in order to provide a one-stop-shop for
MEPA’s clients.
On the planning side, similar processes were under way. Besides the full
coverage of the territory by local plans, the second phase of the Structure Plan
review, in which documents outlining key issues and strategic growth scenarios
for the next 20 years were launched for public consultation, was completed.
A review of the Design Guidance DC 2004 was launched for public consultation
and policy guidance notes drafted to clarify MEPA’s position on new issues
such as open storage. In the area of capacity-building, professional planners
were able to benefit from 10 international work placements, funded by the EU
Leonardo programme, with sections of overseas planning and conservation
agencies specialised in urban regeneration. This is another cross-cutting issue
of central importance for Malta, requiring the ‘joined-up’ governance that the
Maltese public is now demanding. It has been an exciting, challenging and
enjoyable year, and as these projects mature and bear fruit, it looks like next
year will not be less exciting.
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In Development Services, the thrust of the previous year on containing the number
of pending applications to earlier levels was partially successful, with the pending
caseload at the end of the year standing at 3,342 compared with the (revised)
2,828 at the end of the previous year. In part this increase is due to an increase
in the number of applications received – 7,553 up from 7,201 in the preceding
twelve month period.
There was, towards the end of the report period, a focus on functional and
organisational reviews of the development control process in order to improve
its efficiency and effectiveness. An operations review by the Management
Efficiency Unit of the OPM of the development control process as whole began
in July. In addition, two more focused audits (on the quality of case officers’
reports and of application submissions) were announced and are about to
commence.
Development control policy also received attention, with the on-going review and
revision of the main development control policy document – Development Control
Policy and Design Guidance 2000 (DC 2000). This policy underwent public
consultation in February together with presentations to interested stakeholders.
Extensive comments were received and the review/consideration of these has
begun in parallel with the preparation of a formal consultation response document
and with the final revisions to the policy document.

Enforcement
During last year there have been a number of new initiatives aimed at improving
the performance of the Directorate’s Enforcement function. Following the
appointment of a unit manager directly responsible for the Enforcement Unit, the
unit was reorganised in November into teams mirroring the team structure of the
Development Control Unit and an Enforcement Complaints and Compliance
Section established to log and follow up complaints and to manage the compliance
certificate system. In parallel with this reorganisation, an exercise to update the
pending enforcement caseload was carried out.
In the area of service provision, the weekend emergency service was extended
to a daily emergency service at the beginning of August.
These organisational initiatives were reflected in the concrete results achieved
by the Unit, with the number of enforcement notices issued increasing over last
year’s figure; a radical increase in the number of closed enforcement cases and
a reduction in the number of pending enforcement cases. In addition, 37 direct
action operations were undertaken, with priority given to illegalities outside the
development zone, within scheduled sites and SAC’s.

Forward Planning is the other major functional area of the Planning Directorate.
The second phase of the Review of the Structure Plan was concluded with the
completion of the Strategic Issues and Strategic Growth Scenarios Papers and
of the outstanding topic papers. In August and early September the Issues and
Growth Scenarios Papers were subject to an extensive public consultation
exercise, including consultation and discussion with stakeholder groups.
Considerable useful feedback was received, and this is now being considered
as work has begun on the third and final phase of the Review – the preparation
of the Replacement Structure Plan – with the establishment of a Structure Plan
team, a Think Tank and Stakeholder workgroups.
Work continued on the Local Plan programme. A draft of the South Malta Local
Plan has been produced and is ready to be presented to the MEPA Board for
approval for public consultation.
All the other Plans have been subject to public consultation and work on amending
and revising them to take into account the comments received during public
consultation has progressed. The North Harbours Local Plan is the most advanced
in this respect, and nearing completion, although the remainder are targeted for
final presentation to the Board in the next few months.
A number of other policy documents were progressed or produced during the
year. The Marfa Action Plan is currently being revised. The Interim Retail Planning
Guidelines, produced in the previous year, were endorsed by the Minister in June
whilst the policy on Major Accident Hazards and Hazardous Substances was
approved by the Board in January following public consultation and is now
awaiting Ministerial approval. Finally, the Draft Open Storage Areas policy was
subject to public consultation in April and May, and the comments received are
currently being considered before the document is finally revised.
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Development Control

Forward Planning

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

As previously the year proved to be challenging although considerable progress
was made in a number of areas.
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“A radical increase in the number of
closed enforcement cases and a
reduction in the number of pending
enforcement cases.”

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

“A clear need to increase our capacity to cater
for the implementation of new legal
requirements driven largely by the EU Acquis
has long been identified.”
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report from the corporate services directorate
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During this year the Authority was faced with the need to work within a general
containment. Organizational development and initiatives were aggressively
reviewed in an effort to contain expenditure.

The major challenges throughout the year have resulted largely from the
unquestionable need to invest and grow in many areas, whilst dealing with a
very contained income and uncertain future financing.

The Authority continued to progress organizational development with a
considerable number of appointments and training and development activities
in various areas of the organization. These appointments have brought the
organization somewhat closer to its target resource profile although the gap
between our current and target resources seems to be growing every day.

The drive to contain expenditure necessitated the curtailment of a number of
investment plans aimed at facilitating the maintenance and growth of the
organization. A clear need to increase our capacity to cater for the implementation
of new legal requirements driven largely by the EU Acquis has long been
identified. Financing this need has not been given sufficient attention.

This year marked the successful conclusion of two EU funded projects aimed
at sustaining the development of institutional capacity through training in Malta
and abroad. In particular a large twinning project with the UK and Austria
provided staff with exposure and interaction with colleagues in Europe.

The coming year will demand a focus on operational efficiency as the Authority
seeks to develop convergence towards sustainable financing whilst providing
the services, direction and regulation necessary to achieve the improvements
in our Environment we plan to leave for future generations. In seeking this
convergence we must also find the means to continue to develop the
organization’s key asset, its human resource capital, which individually and
collectively form the organization.

Our experience in these initiatives has been positive, with our environment
information structures and participation in the European Environment Agency
being noted as particularly successful examples of good practice.

EU and multilateral affairs

The first priority of EUMA was to undertake a comprehensive stock taking exercise
on EU and Multilateral priorities and obligations throughout MEPA, identifying
overlaps with other agencies and designating focal points within MEPA. EUMA
established new procedures for dealing with EU and Multilateral issues throughout
MEPA and between MEPA and other bodies. An on-line library of EU documentation
was set up together with a database of obligations and timeframes. Given the
new requirements for MEPA to actively participate in international fora, EUMA
also set up new travel procedures, reporting requirements and a rolling calendar
of priority meetings.

Transposing EU Law
In the first nine months of this year, EUMA co-ordinated the process of transposition
of EU law to national legislation. A summary of all EU related Legislation and the
corresponding Legal Notices is now available on MEPA’s website –
www.mepa.org.mt. EUMA was also charged with the preparation of various
dossiers for Environment Council Meetings attended by the Minister for the
Environment, and for Malta’s input to meetings hosted by the Dutch presidency
under the Environment theme.

Monitoring Implementation Of EU Acquis
EUMA liaised with the Environment Protection Directorate and regularly reported
implementation progress to the Ministry and the Commission. Monitoring reports
were issued following an implementation seminar organized by EUMA with all
technical officers present to examine progress on each directive. A recent
development in this regard is the stock taking exercise carried out as groundwork
for a monitoring database. This will enable the monitoring of tasks required for
the implementation of the EU environmental acquis for which MEPA is responsible.

Evaluating New EU Proposals
Since accession, the Commission has issued 30 proposals for new legislation
related directly to environment. As EU proposals for new legislation are in
continuous development, EUMA is also responsible to co-ordinate the review of
potential impact of such legislation on Malta’s environment. The process of
evaluating proposals includes seeking internal experts’ inputs and views where
required, and the preparation of Malta’s position. Justification documents also
needed to be prepared wherever Malta seeks an exception from the proposals.

Coordinating International Funding Projects
As part of the delivery of this objective, EUMA co-ordinated MEPA’s applications
for participation in EU projects, networks and programmes, identified project

A separate task for EUMA under this objective was to be the interface between
Office of the Prime Minister (PPCD) on all national projects funded by Structural
and Cohesion Funds. EUMA established a system for evaluating and monitoring
projects submitted to MEPA with the help of two focal points on environmental
permitting and EIAs and on planning permits respectively.
In addition to providing the coordinating function, EUMA also led certain projects
including a Leonardo project on the attainment and consolidation of planning
skills for workers in urban regeneration, a Transitional Facility project on Building
capacity to Introduce the Polluter Pays principle through Economic Instruments
to Implement the EU Environmental Acquis, and an Interreg 3C project on Greening
the Regional Development Programmes.

Co-ordination Of Multilateral Affairs
In order to achieve a better integration between EU commitments and International
obligations, an initial stock taking exercise of Malta’s environmental multilateral
obligations, was undertaken. EUMA also coordinated Ministerial endorsement
of reports under these conventions. Areas of particular multilateral interest for
Malta included capping of green-house-gas emissions under the Kyoto Protocol
on Climate Change, and the Convention on International Trade of Endangered
Species. EUMA identified focal points and coordinated officers' contributions as
required by MRAE for 10 multilateral agreements, referred to as the Landaburu
list of Conventions, which Malta needs to ratify as an EU member state.
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Establishing Priorities & Procedures

leaders and resource requirements (Table overleaf). In this regard, EUMA
communicated regular reports to the MRAE and to the OPM on the inventory of
projects underway and proposed by MEPA. EUMA was also responsible to
monitor the progress on the projects, to disseminate information and to prepare
guide notes useful for project leaders.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

In January 2004, the EU and Multilateral Affairs (EUMA) unit was set up with the
aim of developing and managing an effective EU and Multilateral Affairs function
within MEPA, and with co-ordinating and adding value to MEPA relations with
EU and multilateral bodies.
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Proposal Number

Pre-Accession projects
managed by Corporate
Services Director

• NPAA 2002: Establishing Institutional capacity in the Environment Sector Completed. (TOTAL EURO 900,000).
• NPAA 2002: Development of an Integrated Communications Strategy in the Environment Field In progress. (TOTAL EURO 159,000)
• NPAA 2003: Technical Assistance in the Environment sector: Project is due to start shortly (TOTAL EURO 350,000)

Regional Development
Fund Projects

• Project to implement Natura 2000 on Filfla and its surrounding marine areas (EUR 200,000).
• Acquisition of air monitoring equipment to comply with the Acquis (EUR 500,000).

Transition Facility 2004
Projects:

• Building capacity to introduce the Polluter Pays principle through Economic Instruments to Implement the EU Environmental
Acquis. (TOTAL EURO 200,000)
• Building Capacity to Comply with the EU Environmental Acquis through improved Enforcement. (TOTAL EURO 280,000)
• Building capacity to implement the air pollution monitoring and mitigation measures required under the Air Quality Framework
Directive 96/62/EC. (TOTAL EURO 256,000)
• Strengthening Institutional Capacity for the Implementation of the Nature Protection Acquis. (TOTAL EURO 400,000)

Transition Facility 2005
Projects:

• Building capacity at a strategic decision making level to consolidate the implementation of the EU Environmental Acquis –
preliminary proposal approved, full proposal is being drafted

TAIEX Projects

• Consultancy on the integration of environmental and land use planning legislation.
• The preparation of a Terms of Reference for Malta's 2005 State of the Environment (SoE) Report.
• Consultancy on the administrative capacity of MEPA to implement the EU Environmental Acquis.
• Consultancy on environmentally acceptable options for the disposal of limestone waste from the construction industry,
in particular by deposition in the marine environment.

UK Action Plan

• Traineeship in Waste Management Permitting - GBP 4,740
• Training Needs and Scientific Research in connection with issues related to non-native species addressed via bilateral
cooperation and coordination - GBP 3,770
• GM Inspectorate at the Central Science Laboratory traineeship courses on Enforcement and Inspection of GMOs - GBP 7,150
• Traineeship in Hazardous Waste Management - GBP 4,190

INTERREG 3

Other EU-funded
Projects At MEPA

• INTERREG 3C INFRARUR – rural development cooperation network
• INTERREG 3C – Net of Parks – cooperation network on protected areas
• INTERREG 3C – GRDP - Greening Regional Development Programmes network
• INTERREG 3C – MedPan – cooperation network on marine protected areas
• INTERREG 3C – DEDUCE – integrated coastal zone management network
• INTERREG 3B CAPITAL BLEU – project to promote coastal / maritime tourism
• INTERREG 3C ESPON – European Spatial Planning Observatory Network
• INTERREG 3C POLYMETRIX PLUS – project on implementing the European Spatial Development Perspective (ESDP)
• INTERREG 3C INTERMETREX – project to develop sustainable development tools for metropolitan areas
• EEA FUNDING REPORTNET: In development
• SMAP Regional Project for the development of marine and coastal protected areas in the Mediterranean region (MedMPA): Ongoing
• FP5: A Biological Collection Access Service for Europe (BioCASE) Ongoing
• ENTRUST: Completed
• FP6 Sustainability Impact Assessment:Tools for Environmental, Social and
Economic Effects of Multifunctional Land Use in European Regions (SENSOR)
• GEF Development of a National Biosafety Framework: Ongoing
• LEONARDO Attainment and consolidation of planning skills for workers in urban regeneration: Completed

Tasks undertaken:
• Preparation of a Terms of Reference for the 2005 SOER and drafted one-third
of the 40 key indicators that are to be used in the 2005 Report
• Participated in the European Environment Agency’s Expert Group on Guidelines
and Reporting.
• Provided support for the NCSD, particularly during public consultations on
Malta’s Draft Sustainable Development Strategy, and carried out four focus
groups with members of the public on their concerns and priorities in this
regard.

• Represented Malta on the EU Expert Group on Sustainable Consumption and
Production (SCP) and Johannesburg follow-up, and drafted a report on SCP
good practice from Malta.
• Represented Malta on the Mediterranean Commission for Sustainable
Development.
• Provided support as Malta’s technical focal point on sustainable development
on international processes at EU and UN levels, including coordinating
consultations with Maltese government agencies on international sustainable
development policies such as the UN – sponsored Mediterranean Sustainable
Development Strategy.
• As MEPA is the focal point on social policy, provided feedback on the National
Action Plan for Social Inclusion generally and in the area of housing.
• Represented MEPA on the national Technical Committee on Child Day Care,
which recently launched a national consultation on Early Childhood Development
and Care.
• Prepared Draft Planning Policy Guidance on Child Day Care with the assistance
of an internal committee.
• Participated in the preparation and finalisation of an FP6 integrated project on
research into developing tools for sustainability impact assessment.
• Successfully submitted two projects for TAIEX external experts missions: one
UK government expert on SOER and another expert from the Dutch University
of Groningen, who will provide advice on coordinating better Malta’s environmental
and land use planning legislation in October.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

This year, with the appointment of the Manager (Policy Coordination), a new
function was set up within the Director General’s office. The aim of this function
is to ensure that MEPA’s body of policy is coherent and coordinated, and to
streamline the process of policy formulation and management.
The main responsibilities currently resting with the Team are to provide general
support and advice on policy management and advice on strategy and policy
for sustainable development. The Team will also keep abreast with policy
developments emerging out of, and provide support to the national and international
policy committees that MEPA attends. Its policy coordination function also means
it co-ordinates the preparation of supplementary policy guidance across the
Authority, and provides advice on the implications of draft national and international
policy proposals. In the area of Sustainable Development, the Team will assist
with coordinating MEPA participation in the National Commission for Sustainable
Development (NCSD). The Team is also responsible for state of the environment
reporting (SOER) and preparing a national environmental action plan. Ensuring
consistency of Structure Plan Review with other public policy and facilitating the
implementation Structure Plan Policy also fall under the remit of this function.
Since the setting up of this function in April 2004
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.

information technology
Activities this year were aimed at contributing to the core information resources
and communications facilities with minimal capital expenditure.
During the period we also developed improvements to Information Resource
Management systems which allowed us to meet important deadlines for EU
reporting and obtain a high first time ranking for Countries submitting environmental
information to the EEA.

All telephony services have been upgraded to support digital telephony, which
should result in better services and cost reduction.

Web Site Enhancements and Public Access

Software Development

MEPA Web services are now considered a core business system with a broad
client base. Indeed the MEPA website incorporates one of the most successful
local e-Commerce initiatives in terms of transaction value.

Over the period we have moved towards a Web based deployment of key support
applications together with new or revised systems to facilitate business operations.
These include:

The EIA web page has been totally revamped and incorporated within the MEPA
web site. It has been updated to a database driven version where the latest
information is dynamically displayed. The updating of this page is thus done at
source by the EIA team.

Building Levy Calculator software
The Building Levy Calculator software has been totally redesigned and
reprogrammed, storing all data related to the fee calculation in a database.
The new software also allows the storage of key information thus allowing
enhanced statistical analysis of applications received. The front-end is browser
based, hence it can easily be adapted for use over the internet as part of the
e-applications project.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Annual Report and Accounts 2004

All legal notices and legislation have been uploaded, including relevant links to
EC legislation. Various additions to outline functions and services within the
Environment Protection Directorate were included in the MEPA web site.

Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.
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A new network link has been set up providing networking services to outlying
offices. The Corradino Offices network link was upgraded to a digital fibre-optic
connection with VoIP services to better support the IT/IS requirements.

During the same period we have moved towards being able to push information
to clients and the web site now incorporates a service called ‘MyPlanning’
which is web-based application available to registered customers that can be
used to keep track of planning applications and enforcement. The system informs
the subscribed user of any changes to the status of an application through an
e-mail notification when the status of the tracked application has changed.
Through the use of links further details on the application/enforcement can be
viewed.
In addition to this we have developed an SMS query / response system to
enable applicants to check the status of any application. This is being tested
and is likely to be deployed in the 4th quarter of 2004.

Image and Document Viewer software
This software is installed for all MEPA employees and displays the building
schemes as well as photographs, plans, other images and documents related
to applications and enforcements.
EC Legislation database
This database for the EU and Multilateral Affairs Office was built to manage all
EU Legislation in the forms of Directives, Regulations and Decisions, their
implementation, transposition and reporting tasks.

Infrastrucuture Development

Mail Registry system
The Mail Registry System has been reprogrammed to a browser application,
which can easily be accessed by all secretaries. It allows better searching and
a more stable environment

During the period under review investment in hardware and infrastructure has
been limited by funding restrictions, with a considerable amount of desktop
facilities falling behind CIMU platform standards. Nothwitstanding this investment
in some critical areas has lead to improvements, and cost savings, in a number
of areas.

Prior Informed Consent (PIC) software
This database system has been created to satisfy an EU directive whereby
importers/exporters of chemicals will be able to check online what the Malta
requirements are for all chemicals to be imported or exported.

A network based fax server solution integrated within the Organisation’s messaging
infrastructure has been introduced. The service accepts all faxes received and
sends faxes through the e-mail interface directly to/from the users’ desktop.

Library search form
This intranet service was introduced to facilitate the searching through the Library
resources at the users’ desktop.

During the year ICT continued to provide all on-going services both to internal
staff and external customers through Web page updates, Web page support to
external clients, Software support to internal clients and Acolaid support and
maintenance. All network infrastructure and hardware was also supported and
maintained.

Environmental Data Reporting
The ICT department has delivered priority data flows to the European Environment
Agency and European Commission. The project is aimed at the implementation
of dataflow process necessary for the implementation of EEA (European
Environment Agency) and EC (European Communities) environmental obligations.
MEPA has been listed 9th from 32 countries that participated in the dataflows,
a very encouraging result. During the year a number of priority dataflows have
been forwarded to the European Environment Agency: Nationally designated
areas, Validated ozone data for previous year, Monthly ozone data for current
year, Exchange of Information (Eol) data, CLC 2000 update progress, Contaminated
soil data, Marine and groundwater data, Greenhouse gas emissions, and soil
sealing, amongst others.

Quality Assurance
The office has maintained ISO9000:2000 quality standard through its QA
procedures. The Office also went through the annual audit by external ISO
certified auditors successfully thus retaining certification.

Library
ICT maintains a library containing books, publications and magazines on planning
and the environment. It serves as a point of reference for MEPA’s multi-disciplinarity
environment. An on-line catalogue has been developed, which is being expanded
to include historic publications within the Library.

EC / EU Projects
The ICT Section is participating in diverse EU projects such as NPAA2003/Twinning
Light, CLC2000, INSPIRE and EUROGI-GINIE, SOER. It is also participating in
other projects in conjunction with other MEPA units: ESPON, InterMETREX,
PolyMETREXplus.
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Ongoing Services

ICT has taken up the responsibility of restructuring the data repository structure
to support the data storage/management requirements of the Organisation. An
Information Resources Inventory was created to record and manage data/reports
purchased by MEPA. The procedures to regulate information resources have
been included in the ICT ISO procedures, inclusive of stringent lineage
documentation (project phase reporting) for each project. Services also include
document language translation, scanning and conversion.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Data Resources Function / Document Management
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.
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the mapping unit
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The Mapping Unit serves as Malta’s National Mapping Agency providing key
mapping products and services to MEPA, corporate clients and the general
public. In addition the unit coordinates the Authority’s internal and web based
Geographic Information Systems.

Geodetic Control
During the period under review the survey control function was expanded to
incorporate a broader range of functions directed at establishing a more coherent
approach to establishing and maintaining vertical and horizontal survey reference
networks.

Developing the basis of a Spatial Data Infrastructure
During the year the Unit commenced a review of its key data sources as part of
a shift to an ESRI data platform. This change will allow the unit to implement
industry standards and best practice in key topographic products as well as
facilitating new products that will enhance its portfolio of key national spatial
datasets.

Web-based GIS
The on-line GIS available on MEPA’s web site continues to be popular, providing
free public access to large-scale mapping, orthoimagery and spatial data. During
the past year Data from MEPA’s diverse units was collated and consolidated and
presented online. New map content for MEPA’s web-based GIS includes many
new layers of spatial environmental information. MEPA’s e-Commerce facility
enables clients to purchase formatted site plans on line.

New Orthophoto Map
The Mapping Unit finalised a new orthophoto product. Generated from photography
taken in May 2004, the new set of high resolution colour digital orthophotos will
be deployed to the public through MEPA’s internet services as well as providing
a high quality, up to date, product for other corporate users with established GIS
environments.

External Services
The Unit continued to provide high quality services to a broad range of customers.
Of particular note during the period was the engagement of the Authority to
provide imagery for the Integrated Agriculture Control System (IACS), confirmation
of the Authority’s broadening expertise in this area. Further commissions by
Wasteserv Ltd. for volumetric analysis of land fills, and MITTS for the scanning
and digitising of data from the Government Property Division are currently ongoing.

Internal Services
The Mapping Unit has committed resources to scanning the plans and site plans
of all incoming planning applications, providing this information on the desktops
of all MEPA’s internal users.

Participating in a larger Europe
MEPA is an active member of EuroGeographics, the organisation that represents
nearly all of Europe’s National Mapping and Cadastral Agencies. Malta participates
in EU-wide datasets on which Eurostat reporting is based

land suvey unit
1.0 General Overview

3.0 Topographic Surveys Section

The year marked a rationalization of survey resources in both the Land Survey
and Mapping Units, with the consolidation of a single survey team focused on
horizontal and vertical control from which road formation levels and road alignment
surveys and schemes are designed.

This Section has now established itself as a leading provider of topographic
surveys. During the review period an area of 1.2km2 was covered and the number
of surveys carried out increased by 22%.

This has enabled the unit to progress a review of road formation levels which is
improving the quality of service and efficiency in setting out building alignments.
The Unit improved response times on its core services whilst continuing to seek
a return on costs by marketing survey services to the Public and Private Sectors.
This approach has continued to yield positive results, allowing the Unit to
benchmark its operations and generate a positive return with repeat business
from a growing client base.

Topographical Surveys
(data from Sept, 2003 to August, 2004 )

Internal Requests
External Requests

No. of Surveys
53
84

Area covered
0.44kms.2
0.76kms.2

Total

137

1.2kms.2
Table 1

Performance in Percentage (%)

A 4% increase in setting-out requests over the same period last year was noted.
Service response times were improved and now stand at 92.5% within 10 working
days, 56% of which were attended to within five (5) days.

Timelines of Setting-Out Requests
60
50

In the second half of this year the Malta Transport Authority (ADT) commissioned
MEPA to carry out extensive topographical survey works of distributor/arterial
roads in Gozo. The project forming part of the Trans-European Network (TEN)
covered an overall length of approx. 18.5kms of dual/single carriageways.
In July, 2004 extensive survey work at Qawra was awarded by the Ministry for
Tourism and Culture.
It is encouraging to note that more architects are making use of our survey
services. Our survey information allows clients to specify added value information
e.g. scheme interpretation, traffic management proposals, official road formation
levels etc.

40
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Time Frame
Figure 1

Since during setting-out much of the 1:2500 scale plans are being replaced by
1:500 survey information, land survey officers are being encouraged to set-out
scheme alignments using co-ordinates, thus ensuring repeatability.
In addition, the Section was also engaged in setting-out of scheme alignment
and road formation levels for re-surfacing of various roads around Malta.
During the year the Unit has received an increasing number of requests to survey
aspects of the land being covered by planning applications. This has added to
the resource requirements within this section.

During the year under review, a new initiative to ensure all new topographic
surveys are U.T.M. referenced has been progressed. This is being done in close
collaboration with the Mapping Unit surveys team. Geo-referencing of topographic
surveys enable cohesion and consistency between all survey information prepared
by MEPA.
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One of the main services the unit provides is the setting out of road levels and
alignments for new development or road surfacing.
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2.0 Setting-Out/Civil Engineering Surveys Section
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.

nature protection unit
The Nature Protection Unit has embarked on a number of activities during the
past year that concerned mainly the observance of EU obligations as set forth
by the EU Acquis. Furthermore, work was also continued on international nature
protection treaties and initiatives.

EU Legislation
A number of EU directives have been transposed into national law, amongst
which are:
- Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) transposed by the Water Policy
Framework Regulations, 2004 (LN 194/04) published on the 23rd April 2004,
and
- Trade Regulations (Regulation EC/338/97 and related Acquis) and
- CITES, transposed and published as LN 236/04 on the 30th April 2004.
Fourteen other regulations were forwarded to the Legal Office for endorsement
and publication including the amendments to LN 167/02, LN 342/01, LN
257/03 and GN 877/03, so as to bring all regulations in line with the EU Acquis.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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Natura 2000/Emerald Network Process
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Data collection and scientific surveys, that were partly commissioned, were
undertaken for most of the declared candidate Special Areas of Conservation
(cSACs). This was done in order to compile Natura 2000 data sheets in line with
the provisions of Decision 97/266/EC, for onward transmission to the EU
Commission in connection with Natura 2000 Network and the Council of Europe
in connection with the Emerald Network. Biotope mapping was also carried out.

latter sets out the way forward for developing the NBS and further proposes a
set of themes to be included in the strategy.

Common Database on Designated Areas

Permitting

The Common Database on Designated Areas (CDDA) 2003 listing all protected
areas and scheduled property declared in Malta since 1933, was reviewed,
recompiled and uploaded on the EIONET Internet site. The CDDA 2004 was
acclaimed with satisfaction and is one of the best sites within the European
Community, as informed by the Austrian Short Term Twinning expert.

Various permits were issued on activities and/or species protected/covered
through the provisions of Act XV of 1988 (Filfla), LN 22/92 (Fungus Rock), LN
76/92 (Reptiles), LN 49/93 (Various Flora and Fauna), LN 125/93 (Selmunett), LN
146/93 (Birds and Wild Rabbit regulations), LN 160/97 (Rubble Walls), LN 167/97
(Offroading), LN 161/99 (Various Flora and Fauna) and LN 257/03 (Various Flora
and Fauna).

Measures for the Conservation of Protected Areas
The management plans for the cSACs Ghadira, Simar, Ghajn Tuffieha, Wied
Ghollieqa and Ballut ta’ Marsaxlokk have been reviewed according to the criteria
of the EU directives to ensure improved control over the operations taking place
in these areas. The management agreement for Ghajn Tuffieha has been finalised,
whilst other management agreements have been drafted for the management
of other protected areas designated as cSACs. Guidelines on the management
of protected areas have also been drafted.

Measures for Species Protection
Throughout the past year drafting of the Biodiversity Action Plan Programme and
also the Biodiversity Monitoring Programme for Malta have been initiated. In
addition to this, preparations for the setting up of the National Biodiversity Strategy
(NBS) for the Maltese Islands have began including the setting up of a core team
with representatives of MEPA and the drafting of the Terms of Reference. The

Tenders
Apart from the tenders on threatened and endemic insects and, alien flora, which
are nearing completion, a call for another six tenders has been issued to cover
the gathering of sufficient scientific data in terms of both the Habitats Directive
and the Wild Birds Directive. The submissions that were made were evaluated
and recommendations forwarded. The two tenders relevant to the Wild Birds
Directive were analysed and a recommendation report was forwarded to the
Ornis Committee Chairman, whilst the other four (invertebrates excluding insects,
fish, alien fauna and vertebrates excluding fish, birds, bats and cetaceans) were
forwarded to the Corporate Services Directorate for final adjudication.

Funded Projects
A number of the main projects that have been proposed for funding or that are
being undertaken by the NPU are represented below in tabular format.

BAP (Malta): Setting Up of a Plant Conservation Centre

European Economic Area/Norway Fund

Application forwarded;
awaiting adjudication results

Protected Areas: Management of Buskett

European Economic Area/Norway Fund

Application forwarded;
awaiting adjudication results

BAP (Malta): Traineeship on the Control and
Management of Alien Species

UK Bilateral Technical
Assistance

On-going

Enforcement on GMOs & Biosafety

UK Bilateral Technical Assistance

On-going

HIP (Malta): Habitat Inventorying Programme for Malta

Council of Europe (CoE)

On-going

Natura 2000: Capacity-Building for the Implementation
of the Habitats and Wild Birds Directives

EU Transitional Facility

On-going

MedMPA: Regional Project for the Development of
Marine and Coastal Protected Areas in the
Mediterranean Region

Short- and Medium-Term Priority Environmental
Action Plan Euro-Mediterranean Partnership
(SMAP) Fund

On-going

Protected Areas: Filfla Marine Protected Area

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)

On-going

BioCASE: Biodiversity Collection Access
Service for Europe Project

Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development (EESD) Programme
of the European Union’s Fifth Framework Programme (FP5).

On-going

UNEP-GEF Project on the Development of National
Biosafety Frameworks

United Nations Environment Programme Global
Environmental Facility (UNEP-GEF)

On-going

Rete dei Parchi: Interreg IIIC Network of Protected Areas

EC Interreg IIIC South Fund

On-going

MedPAN: Mediterranean Coastal and Marine
Protected Areas Network

EC Interreg IIIC South Fund

Concluded

*This implies a shared expense of varying degree between the beneficiary (usually the Malta Environment and Planning Authority) and the funding programme.
Seminars
The Pre-Accession Twinning Project on Nature Protection, GMOs and Biosafety
Components agreed between Malta and the United Kingdom and funded by the
Pre-Accession Twinning Agreement MT2002/IB/E-01, came to an end in
September 2004. The project aimed at providing an extensive training programme
through experience sharing. It consisted of a series of missions led by experts
on various topics to and from England covering issues related to nature protection,
management of SACs, Permitting, Article 6 of the Habitats Directive and Appropriate
Assessments, Biodiversity Monitoring, GMOs and Biosafety Components and
the setting up of a National Biodiversity Strategy. These missions were administered
by the NPU while the whole pre-accession twinning programme was coordinated
by the Twinning Office within MEPA.

A seminar was held jointly with the Tunis based Regional Activity Centre for
Specially Protected Areas (RAC/SPA) on 16th March as a public consultation on
the zoning for the proposed Rdum Majjiesa - Ras ir-Raheb area, along the northwestern coast of Malta, as the first marine protected area (MPA) in preparation
for the management plan of the same. The seminar was well attended by
stakeholders and information material was widely disseminated. The elaboration
of management plan for the coastal and marine areas of the proposed protected
area of Rdum Majjiesa–Ras ir-Raheb, is one of the aims of the Regional Project
for the Development of Marine and Coastal Protected Areas in the Mediterranean
Region, which follows from the results of the CAMP-Malta project. The MedMPA
Project is administered by RAC/SPA with financial help from the European Union,
on a Mediterranean level, and the NPU/MEPA on a national level.
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Another seminar took place on the 25th May 2004 and concerned the
implementation in Malta of the Habitats Directive and the Natura 2000 Network.
A leaflet featuring the SACs of International and National Importance was also
published for the occasion.

Biosafety and GMOs
Legislation dealing with Biosafety and regulating the contained use, deliberate
release and placing on the market of Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs)
were issued. Moreover, a Biosafety Coordinating Committee (BCC) was
established in April 2004 and is assisted by a number of scientific experts.
Since then, the committee which is administered by the NPU, has met several
times to discuss administrative and legal issues, has adopted rules of procedure
and has taken decisions on the deliberate release and placing on the EU market
of a number of GMOs in connection with EU GMO Directives.

Enforcement of Biodiversity Regulations
The Nature Protective Inspectorate have been actively involved in assisting
other law enforcement agencies e.g. Police, Customs and AFM in intelligence
gathering, collection of evidence and investigations pertaining to wildlife crime.
Apart from providing expert evidence during Court hearings, data on wildlife
crime cases has also been compiled and maintained, while complaints made
by the public were investigated and the Police was subsequently notified for
the issuance of charges when criminal action was deemed necessary.

CITES
The NPU, being the designated CITES Management Authority for Malta, was
involved in the drafting and publication of local legislation regarding CITES, thus
enabling the enforcement of EU regulations on wildlife trade. In the past year,
the Inspectorate effectively contributed in the review of resolutions and the
preparation of working documents to be discussed in the 13th Meeting of the
COP to be held in October 2004. In addition, it participated and contributed to
the EU Committee Meetings and Enforcement Meetings on trade in wild fauna
and flora at the EU Commission. The Inspectorate was further involved in:
- the re-export of confiscated live animals to appropriate rescue centres,
- the control of the import and export of fauna and flora issuing conditions on
import licences and inspections at points of entry, and
- informing the public and trade community of the obligations arising from the
regulations.
Finally, the Inspectorate was responsible for modifying the CITES Workstation
Information System to reflect the changes in the regulations and the new
commitments.

resource management
Malta is endowed with a multitude of resources, including natural and manmade ones. The former include indigenous species, sand dunes, valleys and
other biotopes, the coastal zone, land, ground water and limestone resources.
Man-made resources include our built-up environment, agriculture, the social
fabric, culture and traditions. Together they form part of our heritage that is
passed on to future generations.
MEPA’s role includes the conservation of some of the above-mentioned resources.
During the period under consideration, the Resource Management Unit (RMU)
commented on strategic documents, including those prepared by the Malta
Resources Authority on water management and renewable energy resources.

An information booklet on scheduled sites was published. Proposals for the
Conservation Orders and Scheduling were drafted with respect to selected
properties of heritage value. RMU staff monitored protected sites and advised
on the release of bank guarantees linked to development permits. Moreover
RMU staff participated in schemes aimed at protecting the natural and builtup heritage.
RMU staff liaised with the Malta Resources Authority in permitting and monitoring
the operation of quarries aimed at ensuring that mineral extraction is carried

out without undue nuisance to neighbours. Ten disused quarries were permitted
to be infilled with inert waste and restored to beneficial use. Project proposals
for the deposition of inert waste at sea and for the sustainable management
of limestone resources were submitted for funding under various EU-funding
schemes.
Waste is also a resource and during the year RMU participated in activities
aimed at projecting a modern approach of managing waste that goes way
beyond illegal tipping and litter control. The traditional idea of unrestricted
production of waste and that waste is something that must be discarded at the
first opportunity and for free unfortunately still pervades our society. During this
year, the Maghtab and Qortin dumps were closed down and the implementation
of a permitting strategy for waste management activities was initiated. This
permitting process was based on the environmental risk of the respective
proposed operation. RMU issued permits for the movement of waste from one
part of Malta to another, as well as the overseas shipment of waste. Regulations
were drafted for the management of packaging, end-of-life vehicles and electric
and electronic equipment waste.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

RMU staff assessed proposals for development for their impact and provided
advice on mitigation measures thereby alleviating the impacts of their
implementation. This was achieved with the full participation of the developers,
consultants and regulators. Environmental Impact Assessments were carried
out on major proposals, including the offshore aquaculture zone, quarries and
a number of waste management projects. Public hearings related to the impact
assessment of project proposals were organized as required by law. An
information seminar targeted at Local Councils was organised. Experts from
the UK were brought over to deliver certification courses on environmental
impact assessment targeted at practitioners in the field. Moreover, awarenessraising workshops were organized in preparation to the introduction of Strategic
Environmental Assessments. The latter were organized in collaboration with
the Twinning Project with the UK and Austria on capacity building in the
environmental sector.
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RMU drafted strategic documents and regulations aimed at the sustainable
exploitation and conservation of these resources. RMU followed closely requests
for the scuttling of vessels and actively participated in the setting up of an
experimental artificial reef. Strategic documents were prepared on subjects
that included agricultural policies, designated areas as having special conservation
value and the setting up of Marine Protection Areas. This was done in harmony
with policies adopted in other countries, in particular in the European Union.
RMU staff participated in projects concerning environmental resources, eg.
EUROSION. In addition, RMU staff attended experts group meetings on
integrated coastal zone management and environmental assessment organised
by the European Commission.
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Earlier this year Government launched
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pollution prevention and control
The Pollution Prevention and Control Unit is the regulatory arm of MEPA
responsible for preventing and regulating activities which may give rise to
pollution of environmental media. It thus constitutes a large bulk of the regulatory
and inspectorate functions required in the Environmental acquis.
Considerable help and practical assistance in achieving these tasks has been
provided through the Twinning programme with the UK and Austrian Environment
Agencies and the consultants who participated in it.
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Apart from the specific work areas which are highlighted below, the unit makes
relevant inputs to many processes relating to the policy making within MEPA,
and also assists the Ministry for Rural Affairs and the Environment, and other
Ministries as well as many other entities with this aim to assist in reaching
compliance with EU requirements.
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The main focus over the past year has been to reach the required compliance
standards required by EU accession, in reacting to and commenting on new
legal documents being formulated by the EU institutions, and in putting into
place the required legal, and administrative systems and structures which will
bring into practice and effect, and to the required standard, the new legal regime
of the EU. The unit also supported and provided advice to the other Environment
Directorate Units on cross cutting issues and to the Planning Directorate on
various planning issues. The Unit is also responsible for several monitoring
related activities. Members of the unit also participated in meetings organized
by the EU or UNEP, or other international bodies.

Ozone Depleting Substances (ODS)
The ODS committee held several meetings with regards to several issues such
as the allocation of ODS quotas and decision making with regards to national
and international ( EU and UNEP) related ODS decisions. Part of the deliberations
led to Malta ratifying the Copenhagen and Beijing amendments to the Montreal
Protocol.
Meetings were held with agencies in connection with ODS controls. Amongst
these were important matters such as the use of Halons aboard vessels, the
minimum qualifications required for technicians and the establishment of course
and syllabus to allow eventual certification of operators in this field, the disposal
for destruction &/or recycling of ODSs, controls over import/ shipments of ODS.
The MMA, ETC, CTC, MCAST, Wasteserve and the Customs Authorities were
involved in these discussions.
The Unit also assisted in the drafting of syllabi, and project proposals to be
financed through EU or EEA funding.
During the period under review the unit processed 180 licenses relating to the
importation of ODS and other controlled substances, and generally assisted
the public and professional users on issues relating to ODS regulations.

Persistent organic pollutants

During the past year a special focus has been given to:

The unit secured the participation and later coordinated the logistics of part of
the Dioxin Measurement Project for EU Candidate Countries in which EneMalta
participated.

Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control (IPPC)

Chemical assessment/ risk management

The relevant legal instruments have been updated to take into account Malta’s
specific needs and to bring them in line with new EU requirements. Guidance
documents for operators have been drafted, as well as template permit
application forms. All IPPC sites have been visited and detailed discussions
as to compliance requirements were held with the operators. Three workshops
were held for operators in general, including 2 specific workshops for operators
in the farming and animal husbandry sector which were very well attended.
The IPPC committee has been formally set up and the respective members
have been gazetted. During the period under review the committee met 5 times.
A section devoted to IPPC issues has been setup as part of the MEPA website,
which will serve as a platform and ‘front page’ to all the public consultation and
information process required by the IPPC Directive.

As part of the far reaching implications of the EU’s REACH initiative, MEPA’s
role in the implementation of REACH was identified as that of providing an input
to the Malta Standardization Authority’s Chemicals Board as regards to the
environmental impact of the priority substances.

Other issues
The unit prepared a database on the chemicals which are regulated by REACH
or regulation of chemicals and the Prior Informed Consent directives, prepared
draft application forms for both power stations, prepared the draft permit
conditions for Delimara Power Stations, and initiated work on a draft National
Emissions Reduction Programme for the large combustion plants at the Marsa
Power Station, and Emissions trading Directive.
A draft application form for the registration of petrol stations, and the registration
of mobile road tankers and a draft application form for the permitting of a
terminal and permit conditions for the operation of a terminal for the
loading/unloading and storing of petrol were also prepared.

Air quality section
During the past year, the section made considerable improvements, mainly in
grading in the field of air quality monitoring. These included the redefinition and
relocation of the diffusion tube monitoring network from 31 to 36 localities around
Malta and Gozo, to give better coverage and monitoring efficiency.
The existing two air monitoring stations which give real time measurements of
pollutants were serviced by suppliers from France and the UK, thus resulting in
data capture of a higher reliability and accuracy.
The section drafted two proposals for funding programmes, both were eventually
successful and thus funds from the European Regional Development Fund and
Transitional Facility Program 2004 were secured. These funding programs cater
for the acquisition of three additional air-monitoring stations and professional and
technical training to be provided through Twinning Light.

Climate change
The Climate Change Section started functioning in mid- October 2003 following
recruitment of new staff. It is responsible for following Climate Change obligations
under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and the
Kyoto Protocol, and Climate Change obligations under European Climate Change
Programme. The latter include the Monitoring Mechanism, Emissions Trading
Scheme, Fluorinated Greenhouse Gases, and the Emissions Inventory System for
Greenhouse Gases and other Air Pollutants.
The major input during the period under review was in following various international,
EU and national processes with regards to topics above mentioned, especially in
relation to the Dutch Presidency focus on climate change issues.
The section also held discussions with Commission officials to clarify Malta’s role
as a non Annex1 country in relation to obligations under various directives related
to the Kyoto protocol. Malta also coordinated its actions together with Cyprus in
view of our common positions.
The section also participated in meetings with experts under the Twinning Project
on emissions inventory systems and air quality. It also drafted text to permit the
transposition of EU legislation to local subsidiary legislation, and to amend national
legal instruments.

Another main activity relates to the preparation of National Allocation Plan (as per
Directive 2003/87/EC), which will be submitted to the commission shortly.
The section also makes an important input to the air quality section through the
preparation of inventories of pollutants and assistance in the preparation of
applications for air quality monitoring equipment funding under Transitional Facility
and ERDF funding and other technical support on topics.

Coastal monitoring programme
The section carried out analysis of seawater in January 2004 as part of the MED
POL monitoring programme, followed by uploading of the report to the MEPA
website. This was followed by a proposal and draft tender for the continuation of
this monitoring programme for the period June 2004 – January 2005. The section
has also worked on a proposal for a holistic national coastal monitoring program
to cater for all of Malta’s obligations in terms of international and EU obliagtions.

Bathing water monitoring programme
The section is responsible for part of the monitoring requirements under the
Bathing Water Directive. It makes preparations and arrangements (both technical
and strategically) for the collection, analysis and the eventual collation of results
which are then published as an annual report in conjunction with the Health
Department and then uploaded on MEPA website.
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The work of the air quality section also included drafting amendments to transposition
of EU Legislation, environmental assessment reviews and participation in internal
consultations related to various development projects, and in formulating permitting
strategies for activities which may affect air quality.
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Following the improvements made in fuel quality the section has verified through
monitoring that improvements in the quality of the air have indeed taken place.
Data presently captured already indicates a decline in emissions of sulphur dioxide
following the use of low sulphur fuel in power generation.
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Permitting
In preparation for a holistic permitting system, a legal notice and application
form for direct discharges to the marine environment was drafted. Permits for
one-time underwater hull cleaning, propeller polishing and related maritime
maintenance activities were drafted and issued. The section also made an input
to issues relating to waste management permitting involving dredging works
and disposal at sea.

Barcelona convention and protocols
MED POL/ MAP
The section is also responsible for following and implementing many obligations
deriving from our status as a contracting party to the Barcelona Convention
and related protocols. A study leading to the preparation of a National Diagnostic
Analysis and Baseline Budget of releases was finalized as the primary step in
the implementation of the Strategic Action Programme of Mediterranean Action
Plan.

EU Legislation
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The Water Pollution Section was also active in reviewing new or proposal
documents on Commission law making is based, and in various reporting
obligations.
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It is also responsible for the Nitrates Directive and has participated in the review
of the draft Code of Good Agricultural Practice. In order to secure long lasting
cooperation with the Malta Resources Authority, and Department of Agriculture,
a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) has been drafted as well as a oneyear Nitrate Monitoring. The section also made amendments (Nitrate Vulnerable
Zones) to the relevant legal notice
Amendments to L.N. 340 of 2001 transposing the Urban Wastewater Treatment
Directive reflecting negotiated agreements with EU and establishing Sensitive
and non-Sensitive Areas have been drafted.

Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control
The section also participates in the workings of the IPPC Committee meetings.

Shellfish waters directive
In consultation with the Fisheries Division, legal text was drafted in connection
with Malta’s position in respect of Shellfish Waters.

Dangerous substances directive and daughter directives
The section also reviewed the draft implementation plans of Delimara Power
Station in connection with this directive. The preliminary monitoring results of
effluents were reviewed, with operators following their submissions. It also
assisted in drafting of amendments to national legislation to reflect Malta’s
agreed transition periods for the discharge of four substances.

a water strategic coordinating committee as well as evaluation of response
from Malta Resources Authority.
The section also brought to the attention of the Commission Malta’s specific
problem in connection with the inappropriate reporting scales adopted by the
Commission which are not relevant or useful for the small scale requirements
of Malta in view of the very small land area as compared to the European
mainland. A tender for Article 5 analysis under the WFD (identification,
characterization, analysis of impacts and pressures) was drafted.

Maghtab study
This study investigated the state of the coastal environment in proximity to the
landfill. The final report was reviewed and finalized and is to be uploaded to the
MEPA website.

Fish life directive
In conjunction with Nature Protection Unit an amendment on Cyprinid waters
was drafted on which basis a Monitoring Program for this habitat will be started
shortly..

Aquaculture
The unit provided input to the establishment of the offshore aquaculture zone,
and technical direction with respect to processing of aquaculture operations.
It also continued with the management and assessment of aquaculture monitoring
programmes. A National Policy on Aquaculture in collaboration with the Fisheries
Conservation and Control Division has also been formulated.

Environmental permitting strategy
The unit is leading in the development on environmental permitting strategy
by defining on the different permit streams developed and currently under
development. It has currently initiated work on definition of permitting process,
including workflows, consultation procedures and adaptation of IT systems for
use in environmental permitting, in collaboration with the IT section.
This will form the basis for the development of a charging system to establish
a system of appropriate fees related to the various permits required under
national and EU law.

PPCU Inspectorate
The activities carried out by the Pollution Prevention and Control Inspectorate
for the period October 2003 and September 2004 included:
• Collection of samples for the Bathing Water Quality Monitoring Programmes
of 2003 and 2004 on a bi-weekly basis during the bathing season from May
to October.
• Participation in the Ambient Air Monitoring Programme including the
maintenance of 2 Mobile Stations and running of the Passive Diffusion Tube
Monitoring Network in 36 localities around Malta and Gozo.
• Participation in various IMPEL workshops and conferences, including the
IMPEL – TFS General Conference hosted by MEPA on behalf of Malta as a
participating country and organized by the PPCU Inspectorate in June 2004.

• The Inspectorate carries out several inspections with regards to Ozone
Depleting Substances (ODS) involving the tagging and inspection of aircraft
fire extinguishers containing halons, and other ODS importations at the freight
handling facilities of Luqa and Hal Far as well as inspections carried out by
the ODS Team at storage facilities for ODS. The Inspectorate also issues
permits related to ODS and is also active in the work of the ODS Committee.
• Enforcement with regards to packaging of non-alcoholic beverages involved
the issuance of notifications of compliance to stakeholders in the Maltese
market, performing packaging compliance checks, regulating at importation
level, investigating complaints and taking corrective action with regards to
non-compliant products, namely direct action operations where non-compliant
beverages have been confiscated.
• Investigating and following complaints received from the general public, by
the PPCU. The cases investigated mainly dealt with cases of air pollution (64
reported cases and 154 inspections carried out); waste management such as
illegal incineration of waste (30 reported cases and 40 inspections carried out),
illegal dumping of waste (59 reported cases and 108 inspections carried out);

land pollution including dumping of end of life vehicles (8 reported cases and
30 inspections carried out); marine pollution (17 reported cases and 36
inspections carried out) and miscellaneous cases (25 reported cases and 48
inspections carried out).
• Enforcement cases involve the monitoring of clean-up operations where the
PPCU Inspectorate has issued enforcement notices.
• Legal prosecutions by virtues of the Environment Protection Act. The latter
prosecutions mainly deal with breaches of Legal Notice 337 of 2001, Legal
Notice 128 of 1998 and Legal Notice 336 of 2001 that regulate waste
management activities.
• An On-Call Emergency Service for Pollution Control issues commenced at
the end of July 2004. The general public also avails of this service after office
hours during which urgent complaints are investigated immediately.
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• Inspections on farms listed as IPPC sites and permitted waste management
facilities including bring-in-sites, inert waste landfills, and restoration of quarries.
Implementation of a work plan-based system of inspections on the OPRA
risk based inspection system in conformity with EU minimum criteria. 780
routine inspections were carried out since February 2004 at permitted waste
management facilities and waste storage facilities. Monitoring of hull cleaning
operations on sea vessels, particularly cruise liners is also carried out.
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• Participation in various training programmes, seminars and workshops
organized with Twinning Project including the participation of three Environment
Protection Inspectors on a study visit to the United Kingdom regarding
pollution issues in November 2003.
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local plans

development services

South Malta Local Plan

Planning Applications

The plan has gone through various revisions following internal consultation and
a draft document has been produced and is ready to be presented to the MEPA
Board. The area of Hal Far has also been included as part of the draft South
Malta Local Plan.

Over the last year MEPA received 7553 applications and have validated a total
of 7312. The Development Control Commissions have decided 6833 applications
and the active valid pending caseload at end September 2003 was 3342.
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Marfa Action Plan
The Action Plan was planned to be submitted to MEPA Board in November
2003 but due to request for additional revisions, the discussion was postponed.
The Plan is currently being revised, especially in the light of the development
applications submitted for the beachroom project, and will be finalised towards
the end of this year.

Gozo & Comino Local Plan
Work on amending / revising the plans has progressed taking into account the
comments received during public consultation. It is currently being targeted for
presentation to MEPA Board in February 2005.

00
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0
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00
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The revised Local Plan following public consultation was submitted to the
Director of Planning and following some additional amendments to the text and
maps it has now been completed. The Plan will be subject to a further four
weeks of internal consultation and will also be referred to a number of key
public agencies before submission to MEPA Board. A document recording
public submissions and the Directorate's responses on specific sites has also
been finalised while work has progressed on drafting responses to all public
comments (around 2,000) received during the consultation period of 2001.
Both these documents will also be submitted to the MEPA Board together with
an updated Issues Report.
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Following public consultation, work on amending/revising the Local Plan is in
an advanced stage and has taken into account the comments received during
public consultation period. It is currently being targeted for presentation to
MEPA Board in January 2005 following the completion of all revisions necessary
and consultation on a number of pending contentious issues.
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Central Malta Local Plan

Caseload October 2003 - September 2004

November 03

Following public consultation, the Local Plan is awaiting the conclusion of the
last amendments and consultations on certain contentious issues before the
draft final amended plan is presented to the MEPA Board for its final approval.
Discussions are therefore being carried out between MEPA and the Ministry
to finalize the Plan that is nearing completion. It is currently being targeted for
presentation to MEPA Board by October 2004.

Below is a table of the active valid pending caseload over the last year.

October 03

North Harbours Local Plan

Active Valid Pending Caseload

DNO Applications
Over the last year (October 2003 to September 2004) we have received 981
DNO Applications and have decided a total of 1029 DNO Applications.

In November MEPA cleared an illegal scrap yard at Hal-Far. During this operation
MEPA officials and ALE Police had to seek cover as shots were fired in their
direction. Armed mobile police and ALE police officers were called upon and
entered the site and arrested the occupier of the scrap yard. After 5 consecutive
days the site was cleared from all scrap.
A totally new fully constructed unfinished dwelling was demolished at Dwejra,
Malta. The one-day operation took place just outside an area of high landscape
value.
A totally new operation was carried out in August. The direct action consisted
of the confiscation of various energy drinks, which were not in compliance with
LN 158/98 and amended as per LN 11/01. This was the first ever-direct action
of its kind. With the amalgamation of Environment with Planning as one Authority
will produce new types of direct action operations that up till some few months
ago no one would have expected to take place.

Direct action team has intervened to cease the illegal construction of a gas
bottling plant at Hal-Farrug. Surveillance by Administrative Law Enforcement
police is carried out on site 24 hours a day 7 days a week to ensure that works
are suspended. These officers are also being used for patrol of illegal bird
trapping and are used in Emergency situations and calls.
As happened in the last years the Direct Action section has given priorities to
illegalities outside the development zone, within scheduled sites and now within
SSSI and SAC sites. In the light of prioritizing and conserving the countryside,
the direct action team was involved in the removal of illegal buildings in Marsascala
which was carried out in September. The illegal development dates back to the
mid 80’s and after a series of court and appeals sittings, MEPA took action to
return the site to its original state. More than 68 truckloads of soil were placed
on site.
Seizure and the closing down of illegal establishments have also taken place
and in the coming months the direct action will emphasize more on issues
concerning the environment.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

For the review period, October 2003 and September 2004, MEPA carried out
37 direct action operations.
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.

Diagram 2: Enforcement notices
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Diagram 3: Closed cases each month
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enforcement report
Following the appointment of a unit manager directly responsible for the
Enforcement Unit, during last year the unit has seen a number of new initiatives
aimed at improving its performance.

Compliance Certificates

In November the unit started functioning in a different team structure following
a reorganization of the previous teams into new teams coinciding with the team
structure present in Development Control. Most of the past areas of responsibility
of each Planning Enforcement Officers have been rotated and new areas were
assigned. This brought an updating exercise of pending enforcement cases
through the direct assistance of the Operations Unit. This exercise which also
focused directly on the 1993 and 1994 enforcement cases yielded good results
in reducing the amount of cases pending at the unit as shown on Diagram 1.

Team

Received

Replied

AT1

2979

2941

AT2

2026

1986

CEN

0

39

NOR

0

45

SOU

0

3

ODZ

404

412

MPT

486

469

Malta

5895

5895

3500
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Total

6773

6859
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2000

TABLE 1: Complaints registered during this year
by the Complaints and Compliance Office
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DIAGRAM 1: Pending workable caseload at Enforcement Officers by month

This year saw an increase over the past two years in the amount of enforcement
notices issued, reaching the figure of 1061 (Table 2). The monthly distribution
is as shown on Diagram 2. During this year there have been also a radical
increase of 50% over the average of the last three years in closed cases reaching
the figure of 1404 (Diagram 3). These were closed for various reasons as
specified in Table 3.
During this year eight Direct Actions were taken closing 20 pending enforcement
cases.
Enforcement Statistics

Another initiative in the planning enforcement sector was the setting up of the
Enforcement Complaints and Compliance Section managed by the Operations
Unit. All complaints on suspected infringements were directed, logged and
followed-up by this section. This section is also responsible for the administration
of the Compliance Certificates. Since November 2003 this section received
3023 complaints and 2274 were replied. A total of 6773 requests for compliance
certificates were received and 6859 cases concluded as per Table 1. Since
the beginning of August the Weekend Emergency Service has been also
extended to a Daily Emergency Service available until 23:00 hours.

2001

Enforcement
Notices Issued

Closed Cases

1369

994

2002

1030

900

2003

760

919

2004

1061

1404
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The Environmental Initiatives in Partnership Program (EIPP) is a scheme for
financing environmental projects. The program seeks to implement projects that
benefit the natural and cultural heritage of the Maltese Islands through direct and
active involvement of other governmental and non-governmental agencies. Works
are normally carried out by such partners (through delegation or subcontracting
agreements), with MEPA funding. The monetary resources to fund the program
arise mainly from planning obligations in certain permit conditions (where
development, even where acceptable in principle, has impact on environmental
resources & society, e.g. indirect effects on natural resources or infrastructure),
and from forfeited bank guarantees (penalties incurred by developers for breaching
permit conditions; confiscated funds are then used to remedy damage and/or
for other environmental purposes).

The Embellishment of public gardens:

Some typical examples of projects currently funded through the EIPP scheme
during the year under review included:

The management and protection of natural/rural areas

The repair and restoration of historic buildings:
repair, restoration, maintenance & interpretation
- Victoria Lines (Mgarr)
- Dwejra Lines (Rabat)
- Il-Fortizza tal-Madliena (Madliena)
- Tal-Grazzja chapel (Tas-Sliema)
- San Mikiel chapel (Burmarrad)
- Musketry gallery & ex-tannery kilns (Floriana)

- Gnien l-Gholjiet (Mellieha)
- Qala Belvedere (Qala, Gozo)
- Tal-Brag (Mellieha)
- Misrah il-Wilga (Paceville)

The protection and restoration of archaeological sites
- Tal-Baqqari mediaeval ruins (Zurrieq)
- Ghajn Dwieli tombs (Paola)
- Ghar il-Kbir (Had-Dingli)

- Wied Ghollieqa (University/Kappara)
- Ir-Ramla tat-Torri (Armier)
- Kemmuna (Ghajnsielem)
- Gebel Ciantar (Siggiewi)
- Wied il-Ghasel (Mosta)
- Coastal interpretation study (Qala)

Three projects (Qala belvedere, Gnien l-Gholjiet at Mellieha, restoration of TasSliema chapel) were fully concluded, whilst other projects (Victoria Lines, Wied
Ghollieqa, Gebel Ciantar, experimental artificial reef off San Giljan) are at an
advanced stage of progress. The EIPP-funded phase of the Wied Ghollieqa
project is practically concluded and works have been audited on site. The
Victoria Lines project is also nearing completion, as restoration works are also
completed and audited. Preparations for public information panels relating to
the Victoria Lines, Gebel Ciantar, and Tal-Baqqari projects is currently in hand.
Other projects were added to the EIPP repertoire relatively recently:
- Dwejra (Gozo)
- Forti Sant’Antnin (Ras il-Qala, Gozo)
- Archaeological site along Birkirkara bypass (L-Iklin)
- Spinola embellishment (San Giljan)
- Environmental improvements (San Pawl il-Bahar)
- Tigné distillation plant (Tas-Sliema)
- Afforestation in vicinity of L-Iklin (L-Iklin)

The funding due/required for a few other projects is not yet available,
and measures to secure funding are in progress:
- Marine conservation area (Cirkewwa)
- Environmental improvements (Ghajn Tuffieha)
- Pembroke ranges (Pembroke)
During the current year, MEPA also undertook an exhaustive stocktake of the
entire EIPP scheme, with a view towards improving manageability of the scheme
and project prioritisation. Internal and external liaison procedures were also
improved, to assist implementation of specific projects, harmonisation of EIPPrelated record-keeping systems, monitoring of progress, and auditing of works.
A detailed review of related procedures are also underway, for added effectiveness.
Media follow-up of all completed projects to date was also undertaken, and
has also been included into actual project planning. Apart from the public
relations aspect, MEPA is aware of the public’s right to information on what is
going on in the environmental sector. EIPP-funded environmental projects also
constitute a tangible opportunity for awareness raising and environmental
education in practice, and MEPA is therefore committed to informing the public
about its environmental projects, utilising available means such as its own
publicly-accessible website and the public media. Media articles were issued
on specific projects, together with a radio programme explaining the EIPP
scheme and MEPA's underlying commitment towards active conservation and
environmental/heritage management.
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- Marine conservation area (Kemmuna)
- Marine conservation area (Delimara)
- Experimental artificial reef (San Giljan)

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Projects related to the marine environment:
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structure plan review

Preparation of Topic Papers to identify issues for review
A number of topic papers were prepared with the purpose of identifying key
land use issues, which need to be addressed in the new Structure Plan. The
process of completion of topic papers involved quantitative (trend and cross
section analysis) as well as qualitative surveys.
The topic papers cover the following areas: Demography, Retail, Tourism,
Transport, Housing, Employment, Leisure and Recreation, Coastal Strategy,
Waste Management, Minerals, Social Facilities and Community Care, Utilities,
Rural Strategy, Urban Conservation and Built Environment.
A Public Attitudes Survey, examining the views of the Maltese public on a
number of land use issues was also prepared at this stage.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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Background
The Structure Plan aims to influence the quality and distribution of land uses
through a set of sectoral and area-based policies that take into account the
socio-economic and environmental conditions of the Maltese Islands. The plan
provides guidance to local plans and subject plans and gives a general direction
for development control.
The current Structure Plan was drawn up in 1990 and contains 320 policies.
The current structure plan no longer caters efficiently for the changes that have
taken place in Malta during the last decade.

The Structure Plan Review Process
A structure has been established within MEPA to facilitate the process of
Structure Plan Review (SPR). An SPR Co-ordinator and his team has the task
of preparing the draft replacement plan. This work continued in Phase Two this
year.

The Issues Paper collates the emerging issues from all the topic papers into
a single document. Interrelationships among these issues will become clearer
enabling structure plan policies to be written in an integrated manner.

Establishing aim and goals of the new structure plan
The point of departure for writing up the new Structure Plan is the Vision, which
is a future aim or mission that the Structure Plan should move us towards. The
new vision is:

To improve the quality of life in the Maltese Islands by social and economic
development and environmental stewardship, within a framework of
sustainable development.
The proposed goals stemming from this vision are:
• to encourage further social and economic development by ensuring that
sufficient land is available to accommodate it and by encouraging the upgrading
of land, buildings and infrastructure

The Structure Plan Review has so far covered the following stages.

• to promote stewardship of the rural, urban, coastal and marine environment,
and channel urban development into existing development areas

Monitoring the performance of the 1992 Structure Plan

• to facilitate an integrated and efficient approach to the development and use
of land, buildings and infrastructure

Two monitoring reports have been prepared since the first Structure Plan. These
examined progress on the implementation of the Plan since 1992.

• to facilitate accessibility, participation and inclusion in the planning process

Three scenarios have been developed: the first describes the situation in 2020
if the current growth and locational trends continue, the second describes the
situation if need-based housing is concentrated in existing built-up areas and
moderate levels of growth in jobs are accommodated in town and employment
centres, and the third proposes a scenario based on need-based housing
concentrated to a lesser extent in existing built-up areas, and high employment
growth, located in town and employment centres. The preferred scenario is
the third scenario.

A sectorially-specific strategy will be prepared with the scope of guiding the
implementation of the preferred strategic scenario.

Preparation of draft replacement plan
These papers will shape the draft Replacement Structure Plan, which will also
include new policies and which will be supplemented by a Technical Report.
Following wide consultation, the plan will be revised and parliamentary approval
will be sought.
During the last year, MEPA brought to completion the outstanding topic papers,
prepared the Issues and Strategic Growth Scenarios papers and carried out
a consultation exercise on these papers. In the coming year, the Structure Plan
team will prepare the strategy for the new plan and also prepare the draft
replacement plan to be issued for consultation.

Consultation
Implementation of the existing Structure Plan is charged not only to MEPA, but
also to the Private sector, as well as to the various Ministries, Government
Departments, Agencies and Public Corporations. A wide basis for consultation
for this document was embarked upon and several consultation seminars and
meetings also took place as part of the process, among which a briefing to the
Permanent Secretaries. Further consultations with Civil Society are envisaged
to make this document a truly national one.

Annual Report and Accounts 2004

The Strategic Growth Scenarios Paper developed and assessed broad strategic
scenarios for the Structure Plan Review. Its key aim was to assess the
implications of level of growth in the housing and employment sectors, which
the Maltese Islands may need to accommodate during the review period. A
strategic scenario is an extrapolated growth option for the future, which is
based on an integrated set of assumptions concerning key Structure Plan
choices. The reason for creating and testing alternative scenarios is to ensure
that all genuine alternatives for growth are considered and to ensure that the
implications of these alternatives are examined prior to making choices for the
future.

Prepare a strategy

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Identification of growth scenarios –
The Strategic growth Scenarios
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integrated heritage management
Planning Applications, Restoration Method Statements
The IHM Team was consulted on 2880 planning applications for advice on
cultural and natural heritage matters within areas that are legally scheduled or
having other environmental constrains. Of these 2253 were planning applications
within scheduled properties, while 627 cases related to clearances for activities
within scheduled areas particularly during the summer months, road alignments,
and others of a general nature.
One hundred and forty applications related to restoration of buildings and
monuments, 75 of which consisted of Method Statement reviews. Over the
past year, there has definitely been an improvement in the quality of the
submissions following specifically designed terms of reference reflecting the
unique qualities of each building. The spectrum of building typologies has been
widened to include more detailed analysis and proposals of vernacular structures
and townhouses. Site inspections were 48 in total, comprising monitoring of
works in progress to ensure compliance with approved permits and correct
restoration practice.
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The IHM Team analysed 350 applications for proposed development within
archaeologically sensitive areas. In 102 cases the development required an
Archaeological Watching Brief, whereby archaeologists from MEPA and the
Superintendence of Cultural Heritage monitor works for any accidental
archaeological discoveries made during development excavations. 27 new
archaeological sites were discovered through such watching briefs during the
past year. 13 of these discoveries were at Rabat.

Monitoring of Scheduled properties.

Contributed in the drafting of management plans for Comino, Wied il-Ghasel,
Maghluq ta’ Marsascala. Collaboration with LPU in relation to drafting of a
policy for the protection of Gardens/Open Enclaves within UCAs.

The IHM Team carried out a survey to monitor the state of conservation of the
48 timber shop fronts and 3 timber kiosks in Valletta, which were scheduled
in 1994 as rare examples of timber architecture in the Maltese Islands. 33%
of the shop fronts were found that they are in a state that requires conservation
interventions, which would require a development application and a restoration
method statement. An additional survey of 12 timber shop fronts was undertaken
at Floriana. The IHM Team also carried out a monitoring survey of the Wignacourt’s
Aqueduct, scheduled in 1994 as a Grade 1 national monument. The survey
was to establish the sate of conservation of the monument and determine
where conservation interventions are most required. A total length of 2.85km
of aqueduct was surveyed, comprising of 346 arches, and 4 water towers,
fountains and reservoirs. During summer 2004 the Works Division undertook
consolidation works of the Aqueduct.

Urban Conservation Areas Street Categorization

Monitoring and Emergency cases

Submission of reports on the Identification of Character Areas within UCAs.
Collaboration with LPU, comprising thorough site surveys, in relation to Street
Categorization, revision of UCA boundaries. Street Hierarchy Classification of
the Gozo UCA's based upon policies within the draft LP. On site survey of all
streets and areas within all Gozo UCA's. Setting up of boundaries with the
various classifications.

The IHM Team had to respond to 25 emergency cases. These included accidental
discoveries of underground cultural heritage features discovered during
development, such as shelters and tombs. The Team also monitored 97 cases
of development permits within heritage sensitive areas, including restoration
works, trenching of services at Valletta, development close or within buildings
and sites of heritage significance.

Emergency Conservation Orders
Three Emergency Conservation Orders were issued for a Site of Ecological and
Archaeological Importance at Ta' L-Imsaqfa limits of Siggiewi, two farmhouses
and an archaeological site at Ta’ Baldu limits of Rabat, and a rubble garden
wall at Triq Guzeppi Cali at Lija.

Management Plans

public relations
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In October 2003, this office was heavily engaged in the publication of a Vision,
Mission and Values Statement. The process, on the Board’s recommendation
based itself on a widespread internal consultation process. The Board agreed
to this process being adopted as it was a practical demonstration of the
appreciation and esteem in which the opinions of the employees are held.
MISCO started off the process and handled the bulk of the internal consultation.
The PR office then repeated the same process at board level and drew up the
Vision, Mission and Values Statement of MEPA. The document was compiled
in Maltese and an English version was made available on the internet. As part
of a drive towards cost-cutting, the document was produced in-house both
with regards to design and with regards to printing. This move towards inhouse productions was sustained during the year in all the major events
undertaken by the office.
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The Christmas activities for MEPA were signalled by a campaign promoting
environmentally-friendly celebrations. An Advent Calendar with a difference was
distributed to all schools. The Advent Calendar yielded environment advice on
the opening of the daily window. The Children were also encouraged to construct
Christmas tree baubles out of recycled material. An Activity, in which about two
hundred children participated, was organised and the baubles were hung to
decorate a tree in MEPA grounds. This whole activity was carried out with the
help of Middle Sea Valletta plc and Ekoskola. The Ministry for Rural Affairs and
the Environment also gave its support. This was the first time that the principle
of collective social responsibility was applied in the co-financing of the project
which would not have been financially possible otherwise.
In January a new scheme for the restoration of balconies was launched and
MEPA was responsible for the media coverage for the event. In all, during the
year, the PR office organised 30 major activities including public consultations
and media coverages. Over fifty press releases were issued and 40 letters were
sent to the press. The queries from the press were targeted with the aim of
increasing delivery and transparency of the Authority. This was enhanced
through participation in radio and television programmes. All activities this year
were heavily burdened with lack of resources, both financial and human.
The element of social partnership was reinforced further during the year. In
March, together with Nature Trust, The Dwejra Steering Committee was
launched. The finances for this project were obtained by MEPA from the
European Union and are managed by Nature Trust. Later on in the year, the
PR Office was responsible for the co-ordination and execution of World
Environment Day. The theme chosen internationally this year was “Wanted:
Seas and Oceans – Dead or Alive?”. In Malta, as the process had been launched
in March for the creation of a marine protected area off Rdum Majjiesa and Ras
ir-Raheb, the theme was further elaborated on. Together with funding from six
other entities, both public and commercial, a character was created. The story
of a little fish called Rinu was written by the PR Office and a marketing mix of
a cartoon feature on Public Broadcasting Services, a cartoon strip on The
Times, and a colouring and activity book were created. On the 5th June, World

Environment Day, the activities centered at Baystreet. The PR Office co-ordinated
the organisation of a permanent diving exhibition, a play and musical for children,
storytelling and body-painting, a boat-trip with an underwater safari and a
painting activity for children. The activities were repeated on Sunday and in the
evening musical entertainment was provided together with an exhibition of
underwater photography.
Over the summer months, the PR Office was involved in the compilation and
drafting of an Integrated Communications strategy. This is being carried out
with the help of experts commissioned by MEPA through EU funds. In conjunction
with this strategy, a parallel communications strategy for MEPA is being compiled
and should be finalised by the end of November. It is envisaged that this
communication strategy will span the next three years and its main aim will be
to highlight MEPA’s image and performance. However, this needs to be allocated
resources, without which the whole strategy will not be able to take place and
MEPA will not be in a position to honour its international obligations.
MEPA’s website was enhanced as a tool for communication and a new facility
featuring an opinion forum was introduced. This was an immediate success
as, following MEPA’s lead, the topic of rebuilding the Royal Opera House was
revived at a national level.
Later on in the year, with the restructuring which had taken place in the EIPP
section of MEPA, it was possible to embark on a series of publicity projects
related to the EIPP’s. The officers in charge of the EIPP projects drew up a
series of projects which were nearing completion. To date, four such projects
were publicised including the laying of artificial reefs and the restoration of Our
Lady of Graces Church in Stella Maris Parish. A variety of media were used to
promote these projects and the outlets varied from the national airline’s inflight
magazine to prime time television.

legal office
MEPA team
As of the 1st September, 2003, the Legal Office caseload amounted to 135
pending court cases before the Court of Appeal, 76 court cases pending before
the Superior Courts, and 59 court cases pending before the Inferior Courts.
During the period under review, the Legal Office received and dealt with 51
judicial letters/judicial protests. 14 warrants of prohibitory injunction were
received by MEPA and handled by the Legal Office, 6 of which have been
decided by the Superior Courts. The Legal Office received and handled a total
of 45 new Court of Appeal cases on behalf of MEPA and, during the same
period, 22 court cases were decided by the Court of Appeal. Furthermore, a
total of 21 new Superior Court cases were received by MEPA and handled by
the Legal Office, during which period a total of 14 court cases were decided
by the Superior Courts. 10 court cases were decided by the Inferior Courts.
During the period under review, the Legal Office tendered advice to other Units
within the Planning Directorate, the Environment Directorate, the Development
Control Commission, the Director General’s Office, the Chairman’s Office and
to the MEPA Board. The Legal Office assisted in the drawing up and publication
of 7 Legal Notices with regard to planning legislation, and in the drawing up
and publication of 35 Legal Notices with regard to environmental legislation.

General Consultancy:
Abela, Stafrace and Associates also provide general legal advice to MEPA on
any matter (other than appeals before the Planning Appeals Board). During the
period in question the firm has also been requested to advise MEPA on matters
involving Environment Protection. Our service in this regard is spread on three
lawyers – namely Dr. George Abela, Dr. Ian J. Stafrace and Dr. Claire Stafrace
Zammit attending MEPA offices on a daily basis (average of 35 hours per week)
to advise on Development Planning matters. On the other hand Dr. Ian J.
Stafrace handles the needs emanating from the Environment Protection
Directorate. Needless to say that over the period in question, the input on
matters involving Environment Protection has escalated, and on average, this
area is now on the same level as Development Planning. Our work in this regard
involves replies to legal queries referred to legal office by MEPA Board, officials
and the DCC, replies to legal letters and protests filed against MEPA, as well
as attendance to meetings as and when requested.

Legislation:
The firm has also assisted MEPA in the drafting, vetting and/or translation of
legislative instruments. This work has increased during the recent months due
to obligatory compliance with EU Directives. In this regard, the legal counsel
has also provided specialised service during seminars organised by MEPA and
the Ministry for Rural Affairs and the Environment on such legislative instruments.
During the period in question, most of the time allocated to matters involving
Environment Protection is in fact directly connected to the legislative process.
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Being responsible for nearly all litigation involving MEPA in the Courts of Law,
members of the law firm Abela, Stafrace and Associates attended an average
of twenty five (25) court sittings per week. It is worth noting that whereas the
majority of the cases (circa 65%) relate to appeals filed by applicants or MEPA
from decisions of the Planning Appeals Board (similar to last year), one could
note a decrease in the number of warrants for prohibitory injunctions filed
against the Authority (circa 5%). On the other hand, the number of proceedings
instituted by MEPA to recover costs incurred for direct action has increased
to 20%. The number of civil litigation remained stable whereas the proceedings
before the tribunal for the investigation of injustices are now negligible. The
majority of these proceedings are conducted in Malta, but a small number of
cases are heard by the Court of Magistrates in Gozo. The representations by
Abela, Stafrace and Associates are spread on four lawyers within the firm –
namely appeals, prohibitory injunctions and civil litigation being handled by Dr.
George Abela, Dr. Ian J. Stafrace and Dr. Claire Stafrace Zammit; whereas
proceedings before the Tribunal for the investigations of Injustices and those
instituted by MEPA for the recovery of costs incurred for direct action (most
of which are before the Small Claims Tribunal) being handled by Dr. Claire
Stafrace Zammit and Dr. Lydia Zerafa. During the period in question, 110
judgements were delivered in court proceedings involving MEPA. On the other
hand a total of 250 (circa) appeals, writ of summons, court applications , notes
of submissions, warrants for prohibitory injunction, official letters and judicial
protests were filed against or received by MEPA. MEPA also instituted a number
of cases against third parties for the recovery of expenses incurred by MEPA
for direct actions. Litigation involving Environment Protection is negligible.
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Recommendations
The reports submitted to date contain 196 recommendations: 107 are related
to the complaints investigated whilst 89 recommendations are of a general
nature.
The Audit Office in all the investigations carried out sought to identify the source
of the problem being investigated and when this was identified recommendations
for a solution were submitted.
Amongst the recommendations of a general nature submitted for the consideration
of MEPA the following merit underlining:
• The Authority should tighten up internal control on the movement of files to
avoid further misplacing of files,
• Excessive delay between receipt of complaints and taking enforcement action
should be eliminated,
• The establishment of a procedure for rectifying mistakes by applicants in site
identification,

• The necessity to draw up guidelines in respect of siting of fireworks factories,
their extension and the limit to permissible development in their vicinity,
• Commercial establishments in residential areas which involve the production
of food on site cannot be dealt with as local shops but as a minor industrial
activity to which Class 11 of the Development Planning (Uses Classes) Order
1994 should apply,

Enforcement
In its investigation the Audit Office has identified enforcement as an area in
which MEPA lacks a sufficient bite. Its resources are sufficiently stretched not
to be in a position to embark on a full scale Direct Action programme to remove
illegal development. This has also hampered MEPA such that criteria were
never drawn up as to the manner in which Direct Action should be implemented.
The resources available for Direct Action should be increased and detailed
criteria for the implementation of Direct Action should be drawn up such that
discriminatory enforcement action is avoided.

Conclusion

• The use of discretionary planning should be regulated such that it is exercised
solely by the Authority and not by the DCC,

The Audit Office has carried out substantial work during the six months that it
has been in operation notwithstanding that it lacks adequate space in which
to operate.

• The Authority should synchronise the operation of its Sanitary Engineering
Officer and a long-term solution to the conflicts in interpretation between the
DCC and the SEO should be found.

Concluding all these investigations in just six months is no mean feat for which
I thank my staff for their support and dedication.

Joseph Falzon
Audit Officer
30 September 2004

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

• An anomaly between the Development Notification Order 2001 and Policy
and Design Guidance 2000 in respect of the installation of air conditioning
units should be dealt with,
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• Enforcement action should be taken by the Authority without the need to
await third parties to point out infringements,
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.

boards & committees
Heritage Advisory Committee

DCC A
Chairperson:

Ms. Catherine Galea M.Q.R. B.Sc (Eng). B.A. (Arch)

Chairman:

Perit Konrad Buhagiar
B.E.&A. (Hons), Dip. Cons (Rome), A.&C.E.

Members:

Perit Andrew Ellul BE & A (Hons)

Deputy Chairman:

B.E.&A. (Hons), Dip.Arch. (Rome),
F.R.Hist.S. (London), A.&C.E. M.Q.R.

Perit Philip Mifsud BE & A (Hons)
Perit Mariella Mifsud BE & A (Hons)

Perit Michael Ellul

Members:

Perit Dr. David Mallia
B.E.&A. (Hons), L.R.S.M., Dip Cons. (Milan),
Ph. D. (Milan) A.&.C.E.

Dr Ray Bondin Ph.D
Mr Carmel Portelli

Perit Joseph Bondin B.E.&A. (Hons), A.&C.E.

Mr Anthony Mifsud HND (Agric)

Prof Godfrey Wettinger, BA (Hons), M.A. (Oxon.),
PhD. (London), MOM

DCC B

Dr Albert Ganado M.O.M. K.M. LL.D. B.A.
Dr Vincent Depasquale B.A., LLD

Chairman:

Mr Joseph C Sammut KM

Mr. Carmel Ellul A&CE

Mr Joe Attard Tabone
Members:

Mr. Paul Buhagiar A&CE

Prof Patrick J Schembri
B.Sc, M.Sc Ph.D (Glasgow) Cbiol FIBiol
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Earlier this year Government launched
a public consultation exercise
consisting of four regional meetings
and a national conference to identify
the issues which need to be tackled
in the reform.
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Mr Anthony Pace BA, M.Phil (Cantab.),

Mr. William Soler A&CE

FCCF (Superintendent of Cultural Heritage)

Mr. Patrick Calleja
Mr. Charles Calleja

Secretary:

Ms Marianne Darmanin

Mr. Michael Bonnici

Users Committee

DCC C
Chairman:

Mr. Paul Borg A&CE

Chairman:

Mr. Joe Tabone (General Retailers and Traders Union)

Members:

Mr. Saviour Borg A&CE

Members:

Mr. Emmanuel Abela (Consumers’ Union)

Mr. Joseph Bondin A&CE

Mr. Anton Zammit A&CE

Mr. Norbert Gatt A&CE

(Chamber of Architects and Civil Engineers)

Mr. John Ebejer A&CE

Mr. Ian Mizzi (Federation of Industry)

Mr. Joe Attard Tabone

Mr. Albert P Mamo (Malta Chamber of Commerce)

Ms. Anne Aguis Ferrante

Dr. Joe A Doublet Dip.Env Sci., BSc, PGCE, MSc (Wales),
PhD (Wales) (Environment and Heritage Groups)
Ms. Antonia Farrugia (Local Councils Association)

Minerals Advisory Board
Chairman:

Dr. Godwin Cassar BArch, Dip BIE (R'Dam) A&CE, FRTPI,

Planning Consultative Committee
Chairman:

Mr. Andrew Ellul BE&A (Hons) AC&E (Chamber of Architects)

Secretary:

Mr. Francis Tabone M.B.A.

Members:

Mr. Simon Mifsud (The Malta Chamber of Commerce)

FIMgt, D.UNIV.(Honoris Causa)

Members:

P.C. Vincent Mifsud
Commissioner of Police

Mr. Lino D Abela L.P. (Malta Federation of Industry)

Mr Robert Musumeci (BA (Hons) A & CE1)

Prof. Edward Mallia PhD (Oxon) (Moviment ghall-Ambjent)

Ministry for Resources and Infrastructure

Mr Annetto Portelli
Works Division Explosives Section

Mr Anthony Pace BA, Mphil (Catab.), FCCF
Superintendent of Cultural Heritage

Mr Anthony Borg

Mr. Darrin Stevens (Arbor Student’s House)
Mr. David Dandria B.Sc (Zoology) Hons. (Lond) ARCS
(Society for the Study and Conservation of Nature)

Dr. David Mallia BE&A (Hons), LRSM, Dip.Cons (Milan),
PhD (Milan), A&CE (Din l-Art Helwa)

Department of Agriculture

Prof. Mario Buhagiar B.A. (Hons), Mphill (Lond)

Mr. Vincent Gauci

(Grupp Wirt Storiku)

Environment Protection Directorate

Ms. Blanche Martin (National Council of Women

Mr Vincent Farrugia BA(Hons)Econ., D.Econ.FITD

Mr. Maurice Tabone (Association of Estate Agents)

Association of General

Mr E. Aquilina
Retailers and Traders

Dr. John Mangion D.Geol. (Milan), F.G.S.
Malta Resources

Dr. Joe A Doublet
B.SC Dip,Env Sci., PGCE, MSc (Wales),
PhD (Wales) (Birdlife Malta)

Mr. Victor Mamo (Ghaqda Kaccaturi Nassaba u Konservazzjonisti)

Dr. Godwin Debono BSc. M.Sc. D.LL.C. Ph.D

Mr. Joseph Bugeja

Authority

(National Commission for Persons with Disability)

Mr J. Attard Kingswell

Mr. Giovanni Buttigieg (Ecological Society)

Department of Health

Mr. Godwin Vella (Wirt Ghawdex)

Ms Miriam Grech
Mr. Clifford Cauchi
Mr Franco Pisani
Acting Secretary

Ms. Marie Louise Mangion (Malta Tourism Authority)
Mr. Stephen Borg (Fondazzjoni Wirt Artna)
Mr. G A Fairclough (Archeological Society)
Mr. Anthony Zammit (National Youth Council)

1 Presently position is being filled in by Mr. Robert Musumeci BA & CE
who shall be replacing Mr. Peter Gatt

Mr. Vincent Farrugia (GRTU)
Mr. Charles Zammit (Local Councils Association)
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report of the board members
The board members present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Authority for the year ended 30th September 2004.

Principal Activities
The Authority was set up on the 28th October, 1992 for the promotion of proper
land development, both public and private, and the control of such development
in accordance with approved policies and plans. With effect from 1st March,
2002, the authority was designated as the ‘Competent Authority ‘ in terms of
the Environment Protection Act, 2001. Throughout this year, the Board met for
a total of 46 times and convened 29 Public Hearing Sessions.
To achieve its aims, the Authority is responsible for the preparation and
maintenance of the Development plans, namely the Structure Plan for the
Maltese Islands and the supplementary planning documents. It is also responsible
for the conduct of consultation with government departments, private
organizations and other persons relating to planning. Under the Environment
Protection Act the Authority regulates Nature Protection and Pollution Control
and is responsible for Environmental Impact Assesments for development
projects.

Results

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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The results for the year are set out in the Income and Expenditure account on
page 44.
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Board Members
Independent Members
Mr. Andrew Calleja I.A.P (Chairman)
Mr. Victor Torpiano B.A. (Arch), B.Arch (Hons.), A&C.E. (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ronald Azzopardi
Mr. Louis F Cassar C Biol MI Biol, Pg Dip Env. Mgt, MSc (Env Plan & Mgt)
Mr. Alfred Mangion B. Pharm
Mr. Salvator Mousu’
Dr. Sandra Sladden LL.D (re-appointed 5th January, 2004)
Mr. Peter Zammit BE & A (Hons) A&CE (re-appointed 14th December, 2003)

In accordance with the Development Planning Act, 1992, the eight independent
members shall hold office for a period of three years. The other members shall
hold office until they are replaced by the authority appointing them, as long as
they remain public officers or members of the House, as the case may require.

Statement of the Board Members’ Responsibilities
The Development Planning Act, 1992, requires the Board Members to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Authority as at the end of the financial year and of its
income and expenditure for that year. In preparing those financial statements,
the Board Members are required to:
- adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Authority will continue in business;
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the
accruals basis;
- value separately the components of asset and liability items;
- report comparative figures corresponding to those of the preceeding
accounting period.
The Board Members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of
the Authority and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Development Planning Act, 1992. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Authority and for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors
The auditors Deloitte and Touche were chosen to audit this year’s accounts
following the evaluation of expressions of interest for the position.

By order of the Board

Public Officers
Mr. Leonard Callus
Dr. Godwin Debono B.Sc., M.Sc., D.LL.C., Ph.D.
Mr. Saviour Gauci
Mr. Anthony Mifsud HND (Agric.)
Dr. Karen Vincenti MD, M.Sc., Pg Dip Inf. Dis. (appointed on 24th March, 2004)

Members of the House of Representatives
Hon Helen D’Amato (resigned 20th May, 2004)
Hon Joe Falzon M.P. A&CE (appointed 20th May 2004)
Hon Joe Brincat M.P. LL.D. BA(Lond), B.Sc. Econ (Advocate)

F. Tabone
Secretary
Floriana
31st October 2004.

auditors' report to the members of the malta environment and planning authority
We have audited the financial statements of the Malta Environment and Planning
Authority on pages 44 to 53 for the year ended 30th September, 2004. As
described in the statement of Board Members’ responsibilities on page 42, these
financial statements are the responsibility of the Authority’s Board Members. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board Members,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE
Certified Public Accountants

28th October, 2004

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Paul Darmanin
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In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Authority as at 30th September, 2004 and of its deficit, changes in
equity and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Development
Planning Act, 1992.
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income and expenditure account
Note

Development permit fees
Infrastructure services contribution
administration charge
Sale of maps and land survey fees
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2003

Lm

Lm

1,948,065

1,635,368

209,028

156,504

99,744

162,676
143,302

342,499

271,131

2,738,285

2,368,981

Refunds on refused and withdrawn
applications

(103,594)

(116,869)

Increase in provision for unearned income

(340,681)

(146,940)

Earned income

2,294,010

2,105,172

Recurrent expenditure (page 45)

(5,200,821)

(4,875,427)

Operating deficit

(2,906,811)

(2,770,255)

Other income

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

2004

138,949

Fines

44

Year ended 30th September, 2004

3

Income receivable from
Consolidated Fund

4

2,121,837

1,917,573

Funding of deficit of the Planning
Appeals' Board

5

(46,219)

-

Reversal/movement on committed
expenditure on projects in progress
at year end

6

99,013

(3,128)

14,881

28,079

(717,299)

(827,731)

Bank interest receivable

Deficit for the year

Advertising
Auditors' remuneration
Bank charges
Bad debts
Movement in provision for doubtful debts
Cleaning of premises
Demolition expenses

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

28,672

41,610

2,360

2,750

12,176

11,614

-

55,662

3,985

(38,548)

20,924

18,408

77,931

48,048

196,975

208,410

Environment, planning and resource studies

11,055

45,309

Hospitality

12,267

19,707

Insurance

16,768

14,020

Legal fees

63,463

74,412

Materials, supplies and sundries

39,677

41,529

Overseas conferences

42,263

41,826

Depreciation

Programs, initiatives and professional fees

8

209,654

230,703

Public relations and exhibitions

24,024

43,886

Remuneration of Authority Board Members

29,265

36,809

Remuneration of Sub-committees and other boards

87,086

82,934

Rent

39,422

36,221

Repairs and upkeep

69,602

69,848

Security

56,318

46,962

Stationery and printing

35,894

41,026

Subscriptions, books and postage

55,871

32,914

121,141

107,758

20,000

20,000

Telecommunications
Timber balcony grant scheme
Training
Transport
Wages and salaries
Water and electricity

90,708

40,094

146,356

127,585

3,648,448

3,337,669

38,516

36,261

5,200,821

4,875,427
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Note

Year ended 30th September, 2004

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

recurrent expenditure
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balance sheet

30th September, 2004
Note

Fixed assets
Tangible assets

Current assets
Stock
Debtors
Cash at bank

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year
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2003

Lm

Lm

8

937,519

840,483

9
10

9,664
634,974
438,113

6,312
972,861
824,937

1,082,751

1,804,110

11

Net current liabilities

Net liabilities

Endowment capital
Capital reserve
Accumulated deficits

2004

12

Deficiency

(2,936,032)

(2,843,056)

(1,853,281)

(1,038,946)

(915,762)

(198,463)

500,000
147,910
(1,563,672)
(915,762)

500,000
165,249
(863,712)
(198,463)

These financial statements were approved by the Board Members on 28th October, 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Calleja
Chairman

Victor Torpiano
Deputy Chairman

Godwin Cassar
Director General

Matthew Gatt
Director Corporate Services

statement of changes in equity

Year ended 30th September, 2004

Endowment
capital

Capital
reserve

Accumulated
deficits

Total

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

500,000

182,588

(53,320)

629,268

-

-

(827,731)

(827,731)

-

(17,339)

17,339

-

500,000

165,249

(863,712)

(198,463)

Deficit for the year

-

-

(717,299)

(717,299)

Transfer to income and
expenditure account amount
equivalent to depreciation on
fixed assets funded by
Government subvention

-

(17,339)

17,339

-

500,000

147,910

(1,563,672)

(915,762)

Balance at
1st October, 2002

Balance at
30th September, 2003

Balance at
30th September, 2004

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Transfer to income and
expenditure account amount
equivalent to depreciation on
fixed assets funded by
Government subvention
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Deficit for the year
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cash flow statement
Note

Year ended 30th September, 2004
2004

2003

Lm

Lm

(717,299)

(827,731)

196,975

208,410

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Loss/(profit) on disposal of tangible assets

549

(1,487)

(14,881)

(28,079)

(534,656)

(648,887)

(3,352)

336

Movement in debtors

337,887

632,144

Movement in creditors

92,976

413,099

(107,145)

396,692

(295,246)

(198,310)

686

3,478

14,881

35,175

Net cash flows from investing activities

(279,679)

(159,657)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

(386,824)

237,035

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

824,937

587,902

438,113

824,937

Interest receivable
Operating deficit before working capital
movement

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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Movement in stock
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Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire tangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of tangible assets
Interest received

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

13

notes to the financial statements
Revenue recognition

2.Principal accounting policies
Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
recognised impairment loss. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost
of assets, less any estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method, on the following basis:
Improvements to leasehold premises
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Computer and other equipment
Motor vehicles
Electrical and other equipment

5%
15%
15% - 20%
20%
10% - 15%

Impairment
At each balance sheet date the Authority reviews the carrying amount of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount, as calculated. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Impairment losses/reversals are recognised
in the profit and loss account immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount in which case the impairment loss/reversal is treated as
a revaluation movement.

Stock
Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Authority’s balance
sheet when the Authority has become party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
(i) Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.
(ii) Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are stated at their nominal value.

(i) Subventions from Government
Subventions available to cover recurrent expenditure are reflected in the
Authority’s income and expenditure account. Subventions available to fund
fixed asset expenditure are transferred to a capital reserve. An amount
equivalent to the depreciation on the fixed assets concerned is subsequently
debited to the reserve.
(ii) Interest receivable
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Unearned income
A substantial portion of the income of the Authority is derived from Development
Permit Fees, which are received with applications for development permits in
advance of the completion of the work connected therewith.
A provision is made at the end of each financial year to recognise the unearned
income representing:
(i) income received for development applications which have not yet been
determined;
(ii) income received for inspection and enforcement work which has not yet
been performed; and
(iii) refunds which may be due on applications not yet determined.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits repayable on
demand, less bank advances repayable within three months of the date of the
advance.

3.Other income

Administration charge re: Commuted
Parking Payment Scheme
Enforced demolition
Fees for disposal of waste material
Income from reconsideration of applications
Miscellaneous income
Planning control
Recharge of professional fees
(Loss)/profit on disposal of tangible assets

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

72,529
55,455
46,097
34,727
77,088
7,133
50,019
(549)

61,740
47,004
35,552
74,208
8,117
43,023
1,487

342,499

271,131
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The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
and in accordance with the Development Planning Act, 1992. The more
important accounting policies are set out below.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

1.Basis of preparation

30th September, 2004
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notes to the financial statements

30th September, 2004

4. Income receivable from Consolidated Fund

Subvention receivable from Consolidated Fund
Recharge of expenses incurred in respect
of Environment Protection Directorate

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

2,121,837

1,787,500

-

130,073

2,121,837

1,917,573

5. Funding of deficit of the Planning Appeals’ Board
In accordance with Section 15(8) of the Development Planning Act, 1992, the
Authority is required to provide the Planning Appeals Board with the funds
required by the Board for the performance of its functions.

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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6. Reversal/movement on committed expenditure
on projects in progress at year end
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The expenditure of Lm99,013 deferred from the prior financial year represented
expenditure to which the Authority was committed in relation to projects initiated
by 30th September, 2003. At 30th September, 2004, these commitments have
been utilised or reversed.

7. Taxation
In accordance with Section 11 of the Development Planning Act, 1992, the
Authority is exempt from any liability for the payment of income tax.

notes to the financial statements

30th September, 2004

Furniture,
fixtures
and fittings

Computer
and other
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Electrical
and other
equipment

Total

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Lm

Cost
At 01.10.2003
Additions
Disposals

938,243
212,013
(788)

329,738
11,270
-

1,454,460
70,646
(13,935)

29,368
(7,782)

317,744
1,317
(1,003)

3,069,553
295,246
(23,508)

At 30.09.2004

1,149,468

341,008

1,511,171

21,586

318,058

3,341,291

Depreciation
At 01.10.2003
Provision for the year
Released on disposal

465,210
57,666
(354)

267,956
14,476
-

1,150,928
123,910
(13,134)

29,368
(7,782)

315,608
923
(1,003)

2,229,070
196,975
(22,273)

At 30.09.2004

522,522

282,432

1,261,704

21,586

315,528

2,403,772

Net book value
At 30.09.2003

473,033

61,782

303,532

-

2,136

840,483

At 30.09.2004

626,946

58,576

249,467

-

2,530

937,519

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

9,664

6,312

The Authority has incurred, since inception, capital expenditure totalling
Lm1,149,468 (2003 – Lm938,243) on improving the Authority’s and Appeals
Board’s premises at Floriana and the Authority’s premises in Gozo. Formal
lease agreements have been signed with the Commissioner of Land during
1998 for the Authority’s leased premises in Malta and Gozo, specifying that the
lease agreement is for a one-year period, thereafter renewable at the option
of Government from year to year, with a definite lease period not established.
The capital expenditure incurred is being depreciated at 5% per annum on the
assumption that the Authority will continue to occupy the premises for at least
20 years from the date of the improvement.
At 30th September, 2004, tangible assets costing Lm1,606,106
(2003 – Lm1,487,824) were fully written off but still in use by the Authority.

9. Stock

Consumables

Malta Environment and Planning Authority

Improvements
to leased
premises
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8.Tangible assets
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notes to the financial statements
10. Debtors

Trade debtors
Other debtors
Account with the Government of Malta
Government subvention
Prepayments and accrued income

30th September, 2004

14. Administration of specific funds
2004

2003

Lm

Lm

306,588
74,964
612
252,810

213,896
114,936
612
450,000
193,417

634,974

972,861

The Authority is responsible for the collection and administration of special
funds on behalf of third parties which are to be applied for specific purposes.
At 30th September, 2004, the funds and other assets held by the Authority are
analysed as follows:

Cash at bank
Debtors

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

3,321,979
154,408

2,849,962
114,097

3,476,387

2,964,059

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

2,629,845
846,542

2,221,123
742,936

3,476,387

2,964,059

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
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Amounts due for Infrastructure Services
Other creditors
Unearned income
Accruals and deferred income

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

363,637
193,624
1,875,142
503,629

527,027
229,323
1,534,462
552,244

2,936,032

2,843,056

Commuted Parking Payment Scheme
Other Special Funds

The Authority earns an administration fee of 3% per annum of the funds held
on behalf of the Commuted Parking Payment Scheme. No income is earned
on the collection and administration of Other Special Funds.

12. Endowment capital
In accordance with Section 7(1) of the Development Planning Act, 1992, the
endowment capital of the Authority is Lm500,000.

13. Cash and cash equivalents

Since the Authority carries out the above activities and holds such balances
on behalf of third parties, it was considered more appropriate to disclose the
above information in the notes to the financial statements rather than as part
of the Authority’s balance sheet, as was done in previous years.

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the
following balance sheet amounts:

As a result of the change in disclosure, the comparative figures have also been
altered, to comply with the current year’s presentation of the financial statements.

Cash at bank

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

438,113

824,937

Furthermore, at the balance sheet date, the Authority had issued the following
bank guarantees:

At the balance sheet date, the Authority had outstanding commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

2004

2003

Lm

Lm

68,097
15,615

68,163
50,991

83,712

119,154

16. Contingent liabilities
The Authority is currently defending in Court a number of claims filed against
it in connection with the issue, or non-issue, of development permits by itself
or its predecessor, the Planning Area Permits Board. No provision has been
made in these financial statements in respect of these claims.

(i) of Lm40,000 against a case involving one of its employees who is defending
a civil action for damages in connection with the performance of his duties,
which in the Authority’s opinion, the claim is unfounded and no provision has
been made in these financial statements in this respect; and
(ii) of Lm40,600 to comply with an agreement reached with the European
Commission against its contribution to the Nature Trust Project.

17. Financial instruments
Financial assets of the Authority include cash classified as current assets in the
balance sheet, as well as debtors. Financial liabilities of the Authority include
creditors. The accounting policies for these assets and liabilities are set out
in note 2 to the financial statements and those policies are directed towards
the establishment of fair values for these assets and liabilities.

Fair values
At 30th September, 2004 and 2003 the fair values of financial assets and
liabilities were not materially different from their carrying amounts.
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15. Operating lease arrangements

30th September, 2004
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revenue and expenditure estimates

For the year ending 30 September 2005 (in terms of Section 7 of the Development Planning Act, 1992)

projected income and expenditure account
ESTIMATES
Year ending 30.09.05

ACTUAL
Year ended 30.09.04

ESTIMATES
Year ended 30.09.04

Lm

Lm

Lm

Unearned income brought forward

1,875,142

1,534,462

1,534,462

Development permit fees (net of refunds)

1,495,858

1,828,041

1,270,538

200,000

209,028

160,000

Income

Administration of infrastructure and services contributions
Income from sanctioning of illegal development
and issuance of compliance certificates, DNOs, etc.
Other income
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Annual Report and Accounts 2004

Unearned income carried forward

54

60,000

63,090

60,000

430,000

499,393

462,000

(1,800,000)

(1,875,142)

(1,500,000)

2,261,000

2,258,872

1,987,000

Expenditure
3,985,320

3,735,068

3,614,250

Training

Salaries and remuneration

67,600

90,708

46,250

Overseas conferences

45,000

42,263

40,000

Staff welfare

35,000

29,731

26,000

Depreciation

200,000

196,975

177,661

89,000

11,055

94,000

Planning and resource studies
Historic building grant scheme
Administration and operational expenses

Operating deficit
Subvention from Government
Amount committed to projects in progress
Funding of deficit of the Planning Appeals' Board
Deficit for the year

20,000

20,000

20,000

1,071,191

1,025,002

1,077,023

5,513,111

5,150,802

5,095,184

(3,252,111)

(2,891,930)

(3,108,184)

2,837,500

2,121,837

2,271,837

99,013

-

(60,000)

-

(46,219)

-

(474,611)

(717,299)

(836,347)

ACTUAL
Year ended 30.09.04

ESTIMATES
Year ended 30.09.04

Lm

Lm

Lm

Deficit for the year
Add back: Depreciation
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets
(Decrease)/Increase in unearned income
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors
Increase in stocks
Decrease in debtors

(474,611)
200,000
(75,142)
37,817
27,325

(717,299)
196,975
549
340,680
(247,704)
(3,352)
337,887

(836,347)
195,000
(34,462)
9,699
24,763

Cash used in operations

(284,611)

(92,264)

(641,347)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital Expenditure
Office accommodation - Malta
Mapping equipment
Land survey equipment
Information technology
Environmental equipment
Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets

25,000
140,000
-

224,600
9,563
2,604
52,567
5,912
(686)

200,000
10,000
2,800
-

Net cash outflow from investing activities

165,000

294,560

212,800

(449,611)

(386,824)

(854,147)

Net cash outflow

notes to the estimates
Overlap of income
Income received from Development Permit Fees in advance of the processing
work connected therewith, is considered to be unearned income. This means
that, at any point in time, the Authority is in possession of funds for development
permit applications, which have yet to be processed. Therefore, should the
application be eventually refused, one half of the development permit fee will
become refundable.

subvention from government
The Government has not yet published estimates for the 2005 fiscal year. For the
purpose of these estimates, it has been assumed that the Government will vote
a subvention of Lm2,900,000 under the Government’s budget for 2005. Accordingly
the amount voted to the Authority for the fiscal year 2005 has been estimated at:

Recurrent vote

Lm2,900,000

The subvention figures appearing in the estimates are made up as follows:
Lm
Amounts receivable in October to December 2004
from Government Budget for the MEPA for 2004
Amounts receivable in January to September 2005
from Government Budget for 2005 (75% of Lm2,900,000)

662,500
2,175,000
2,837,500

Malta Environment and Planning Authority
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